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          1   IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL

          2     CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

          3   

          4   STATE OF FLORIDA, OFFICE OF   )

          5   THE ATTORNEY GENERAL,         )

          6   DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS,  )

          7            Plaintiff,           )

          8      vs.                        )No. 2004 CA 002515

          9   COMMERCE COMMERCIAL LEASING,  )THE DEPOSITION OF

         10   LLC, COURT SQUARE LEASING     )MARTIN F. BABICKI

         11   CORP., DOLPHIN CAPITAL CORP., )TAKEN ON 1/6/05

         12   IFC CREDIT CORP., NATIONAL    )

         13   CITY COMMERCIAL CAPITAL CORP.,)

         14   formerly known as, INFORMATION)

         15   LEASING CORP., IRWIN BUSINESS )

         16   FINANCE, LIBERTY BANK LEASING,)

         17   PATRIOT LEASING CO., INC.,    )

         18   POPULAR LEASING U.S.A., INC., )

         19   PREFERRED CAPITAL, LLC,       )

         20   STERLING NATIONAL BANK, and   )

         21   WELLS FARGO FINANCIAL LEASING,)

         22   INC.,                         )

         23            Defendants.

         24   

         25   
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          1            The 30(b)(6) deposition of MARTIN F.

          2   BABICKI, called for examination, taken before ZONA

          3   B. MILLER, a Notary Public within and for the

          4   County of Lake, State of Illinois, and a Certified

          5   Shorthand Reporter of said state, No. 84‑0428,

          6   12th Floor, 100 West Randolph Street, Chicago,

          7   Illinois, on the 6th day of January, A.D. 2005, at

          8   9:11 a.m.

          9   

         10   PRESENT:

         11      OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL,

         12      STATE OF FLORIDA,

         13      (The Capitol Suite, PL‑01,

         14      Tallahassee, Florida, 32399‑1050,

         15      850‑414‑3600), by:

         16      MR. KEITH P. VANDEN DOOREN,

         17      Assistant Attorney General ‑ Economic Crimes

         18      Division,

         19            appeared on behalf of the Plaintiff;

         20   

         21   

         22   

         23   

         24   

         25   

                                                                        3

          1   PRESENT:  (Continued)

          2      FREY, PETRAKIS, DEEB, BLUM, BRIGGS & MITTS,

          3      1601 Market Street, Suite 2600,

          4      Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103,

          5      215‑563‑0500), by:

          6      MR. JOSEPH H. BLUM,

          7            appeared on behalf of the Defendants

          8            Commerce Commercial Leasing, Dolphin

          9            Capital Corp., ILC, Irwin Business

         10            Finance, Liberty Bank, Popular Leasing

         11            U.S.A., Inc., Preferred Capital, LLC, and

         12            Sterling National Bank;

         13   

         14      AKERMAN SENTERFITT,

         15      (106 East College Avenue, Suite 1200,

         16      Post Office Box 1877 (32302‑1877),

         17      Tallahassee, Florida 32301),

         18      850‑224‑9634), by:

         19      MR. BRUCE CULPEPPER

         20            appeared on behalf of the Defendants

         21            Commerce Commercial Leasing, Dolphin

         22            Capital Corp., Irwin Business

         23            Finance, Liberty Bank, Popular Leasing

         24            U.S.A., Inc., Preferred Capital, LLC, and

         25            Sterling National Bank; IFC Credit Corp.;
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          1   PRESENT:  (Continued)

          2      AKERMAN SENTERFITT,

          3      Citrus Center, 17th Floor,

          4      (255 South Orange Avenue,

          5      Post Office Box 231 32802‑0231,

          6      Orlando, Florida 32801‑3843),

          7      407‑843‑7860), by:

          8      MR. ALBERT F. TELLECHEA and

          9      MR. VASILIS "BILL" KATSAFANAS,

         10            appeared on behalf of the Defendant

         11            Popular Leasing USA, Inc.;

         12   

         13   ALSO PRESENT:

         14      MS. ASHLEY DICKSON, LAW CLERK

         15   

         16   

         17   

         18   

         19   

         20   

         21   

         22   

         23   

         24   

         25   REPORTED BY:  ZONA B. MILLER, C.S.R.
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          1                (WHEREUPON, the witness was duly

          2                sworn.)

          3        MR. KATSAFANAS:  I think we did this

          4   yesterday.  Let me just give you a copy of the

          5   same statement.

          6        MR. TELLECHEA:  It's the objections to the

          7   deposition.

          8        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  This is for Popular

          9   Leasing.

         10        MR. TELLECHEA:  For Popular Leasing only,

         11   yes.  And we're going to do the same for every

         12   deposition.

         13        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  I've seen this before.

         14        MR. TELLECHEA:  We'll just go ahead and

         15   she'll put it in the record.

         16                (WHEREUPON, the following written

         17                objection was made a part of the

         18                record.)

         19              "Popular Leasing objects to these

         20   depositions.  These depositions are premature.

         21   They are oppressive and burdensome.  These

         22   depositions are being taken over the objection of

         23   Popular Leasing.  Popular Leasing has filed, and

         24   awaits a hearing on a motion to sever, which

         25   argues that there is no reason whatsoever for
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          1   Popular Leasing to be made a joint defendant in

          2   these matters would be the other eleven

          3   defendants.  No ground has ever been given for the

          4   Attorney General's choice to lump all of these

          5   defendants together, and that decision is making

          6   discovery and other pre‑trial matters unduly

          7   burdensome and oppressive.

          8            Popular Leasing also objects to these

          9   depositions as being conducted prior to a hearing

         10   on its pending motions to dismiss.  The complaint,

         11   as currently stated, states no wrongdoing

         12   whatsoever against Popular Leasing specifically.

         13   No fraud, deceptive or unfair trade practices been

         14   alleged with particularity.  Due process requires

         15   notice to Popular Leasing of the claims made

         16   against it by the state.

         17            Popular Leasing also objects to the

         18   depositions of these deponents because their

         19   connection, if any, to Popular Leasing has never

         20   been disclosed to Popular Leasing.  Popular

         21   Leasing reserves its right to retake these

         22   depositions at a later time, after the pleading

         23   issues are clarified and after further discovery

         24   is made.  Popular Leasing also expressly reserves

         25   the right to object to the use of these
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          1   depositions for any purpose in any proceeding."

          2        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  As a preliminary here,

          3   let's go around the table from the witness around

          4   with the counsel and just introduce yourselves,

          5   who you represent, please.

          6        MR. BLUM:  My name is Joseph Blum in

          7   conjunction with Peter Deeb, whose name is more

          8   recognized.  We represent Commerce Commercial

          9   Leasing, Dolphin Capital, ILC, Irwin Business

         10   Finance, Liberty Bank Leasing, Popular Leasing,

         11   Preferred Capital and Sterling National Bank.

         12        MR. CULPEPPER:  My name is Bruce Culpepper,

         13   with the law firm Akerman Senterfitt from Florida.

         14   We represent here this morning ‑‑ or me, Commerce

         15   Commercial Leasing, Court Square Leasing, Dolphin

         16   Capital, IFC Credit, National City, Commercial

         17   Capital, Irwin Business Finance, Liberty Bank

         18   Leasing, Preferred Capital and Sterling National

         19   Bank.

         20        MR. TELLECHEA:  My name is Albert Tellechea.

         21   I'm from Akerman Senterfitt and I represent

         22   Popular Leasing.

         23        MR. KATSAFANAS:  My name is

         24   Vasilis Katsafanas, for the record, with Akerman

         25   Senterfitt from Florida, and I represent Popular

                                                                        8

          1   Leasing.

          2        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Thank you.

          3                (WHEREUPON, the witness was duly

          4                sworn.)

          5                 MARTIN F. BABICKI,

          6   called as a witness herein, having been first duly

          7   sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

          8                 EXAMINATION

          9   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         10        Q.    Sir, before we get started here, I'm

         11   going to be asking you a series of questions.

         12   We're taking your deposition as a corporate

         13   representative for Commercial Leasing.

         14              If you do not understand the question

         15   that I ask you, please let me know.  Don't answer

         16   it assuming that you do understand it.  If you

         17   answer it, I assume you do understand it.  Okay?

         18              If you need to break for any reason

         19   anytime during this deposition, just let us know.

         20   If you need to take a ‑‑ you know, get coffee or

         21   whatever, just let us know.

         22        A.    Okay.

         23        Q.    I understand you're here and you

         24   represent the designated representative for

         25   Commercial Leasing; is that correct?
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          1        MR. BLUM:  Commerce Commercial Leasing.

          2   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          3        Q.    I'm sorry.  Commerce Commercial

          4   Leasing; is that correct?

          5        A.    Correct.

          6        Q.    And just for the purposes of this

          7   deposition, if I refer to Commerce, I'm referring

          8   to Commerce Commercial Leasing.  Do you

          9   understand?

         10        A.    Yes.

         11        Q.    I also have a card that you gave me

         12   when you came in that indicates you are the

         13   Executive Vice President ‑ Risk/Operations for

         14   Partners Equity Capital Company; is that correct?

         15        A.    Correct.

         16        Q.    What is Partners Equity Capital

         17   Company?

         18        A.    We are an equipment leasing company.

         19        Q.    Is that some relation or affiliation to

         20   Commerce Commercial Leasing?

         21        A.    Yes.

         22        Q.    What is that?

         23        A.    We have a program agreement with

         24   Commerce Bank with our equipment leasing, private

         25   label.
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          1        Q.    What kind of company is Partners Equity

          2   Capital?

          3        MR. BLUM:  Go ahead.  I'm sorry.  I'm going

          4   to object to the form.  I'm not understanding what

          5   you mean.  The business they do ‑‑

          6        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Fair enough.

          7   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          8        Q.    What kind of business does Partners

          9   Equity Capital do?

         10        A.    We do equipment leasing on a commercial

         11   leasing basis and a private label basis with

         12   companies.

         13        Q.    Is NorVergence one of those companies?

         14        A.    Yes.

         15        Q.    How many other companies other than

         16   NorVergence does Partners Equity Capital have?

         17        A.    At the present time, approximately 40.

         18        Q.    Is it the same kind of business

         19   relations and structure that you have with these

         20   other companies as you do with NorVergence?

         21        A.    Yes.

         22        Q.    Tell me, if you know, when Partners

         23   Equity Capital Company first had any contact with

         24   NorVergence.

         25        A.    Are you looking for a date?
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          1        Q.    Yes.  Approximate, if possible.

          2        A.    March 2003.

          3        Q.    And are you aware of what that contact

          4   was?

          5        A.    It was primarily introductions from

          6   Commerce Bank to us about NorVergence.

          7        Q.    And who was it at Commerce that

          8   introduced NorVergence to Partners Equity?

          9        A.    Are you looking for the officer at the

         10   respective bank?

         11        Q.    If you know.

         12        A.    Tom Shoemaker.

         13        Q.    Who is he?

         14        A.    He was the president of the leasing

         15   company.

         16        Q.    And when you say the leasing company,

         17   you're referring to Partners Equity?

         18        A.    Commerce Bank had a large‑ticket

         19   equipment leasing company.

         20        Q.    Did that have a name other than

         21   Partners Equity?

         22        A.    Yes.

         23        Q.    What was that?

         24        A.    Commerce Commercial Leasing.

         25        Q.    And why are there two entities,
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          1   Partners Equity Capital and Commerce Leasing that

          2   are part of the Commerce Bank?

          3        A.    Partners Equity Capital Company is its

          4   own corporation located in Horsham, Pennsylvania;

          5   H‑O‑R‑S‑H‑A‑M, Pennsylvania.  And we ran an

          6   operating agreement with Commerce Bank to do their

          7   vendor leasing.

          8        Q.    Well, how does ‑‑ so what you're saying

          9   is Partners Equity has a program with Commerce

         10   Leasing or the bank?

         11        A.    With the bank.

         12        Q.    And Commerce Leasing is a separate

         13   entity that does leases similar to Partners

         14   Equity?

         15        A.    Commerce Commercial Leasing for

         16   Commerce Bank and their big ticket leasing does

         17   equipment leasing.

         18        Q.    What do you mean "big ticket"?

         19        A.    Transactions primarily over $200,000.

         20        Q.    And Partners Equity does leasing

         21   transactions that are less than $200,000?

         22        A.    Yes.  If I may add.

         23        MR. BLUM:  Go ahead.

         24   BY THE WITNESS:

         25        A.    We do it with not their customers, with
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          1   vendors that are major customers of Commerce Bank,

          2   which is the vendors' programs.

          3   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          4        Q.    So in other words, it's not personal

          5   leasing, it's commercial leasing?

          6        A.    It's commercial leasing.

          7        Q.    Going back to the introduction of

          8   NorVergence to, did you say Commercial Leasing?

          9   Is that how that went?

         10        A.    Yes.  We were referred to NorVergence

         11   from Commerce Bank.  It was a referral by one of

         12   their customers.

         13        Q.    Which customer?

         14        A.    I don't understand.

         15        Q.    You said it was a referral by a

         16   customer.  I ‑‑

         17        A.    Commerce Bank identified vendors of

         18   theirs that we could set up equipment leasing

         19   programs with entertaining the possibility of

         20   entering into arrangements with those companies.

         21        Q.    Leasing arrangements?

         22        A.    Yes.

         23        Q.    And so Mr. Shoemaker, who was president

         24   of the Commercial ‑‑ Commerce Commercial Leasing

         25   company, made an introduction to someone at
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          1   Partners Equity, is that correct, for NorVergence?

          2        A.    I'm not sure.  He made an introduction

          3   to somebody at Partners Equity Capital Company,

          4   yes.

          5        Q.    Do you know why that was done?

          6        A.    The possibility of setting up a vendor

          7   program with NorVergence.

          8        Q.    Was there someone who, if you know, had

          9   gone to Mr. Shoemaker beforehand to, you know,

         10   generate this introduction?

         11        A.    I don't know.

         12        Q.    Were you there at the time the

         13   introduction was made?

         14        A.    No.

         15        Q.    Do you know who was there when the

         16   introduction was made?

         17        A.    No.  I'm not sure.

         18        Q.    Are there any documents that reflect

         19   that first introduction meeting, if you will?

         20        A.    I don't believe there are.

         21        Q.    Can you tell me what the substance of

         22   the introduction was?

         23        A.    I don't know.

         24        Q.    What happened after that introduction?

         25        A.    What do you mean?

                                                                       15

          1        Q.    What happened in terms of the

          2   relationship between Commercial Leasing and

          3   Partners Equity and NorVergence?  What happened

          4   after that, that introduction by Mr. Shoemaker?

          5        A.    We would then set up to review

          6   NorVergence to entertain doing a vendor

          7   relationship with them.

          8        Q.    And who was doing the review?

          9        A.    Can you define "review" for me?

         10        Q.    Well, I'm using your term.  You said

         11   that, you know, they were going to review

         12   NorVergence.

         13        A.    In our normal process, we will then

         14   begin a credit review, a vendor qualification

         15   review of the potential vendor.

         16        Q.    And was that done?

         17        A.    Yes.

         18        Q.    And who did that?

         19        A.    It would have been our vice president

         20   of credit, Lamont Melton.  Lamont, L‑A‑M‑O‑N‑T,

         21   Melton, M‑E‑L‑T‑O‑N.

         22        Q.    Was there any other kind of review done

         23   other than the credit review?

         24        A.    No.

         25        Q.    What were the results of the credit
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          1   review?

          2        A.    In the credit review, it was positive

          3   to sign up the relationship.

          4        Q.    What do you mean "positive"?

          5        A.    In our normal vendor qualification

          6   process, we request financial statements from the

          7   respective vendor, references from the vendor; we

          8   will pull Dunn & Bradstreet information; we will

          9   analyze that information supplied to us, and then

         10   we'll, whether favorably or unfavorably, rule with

         11   regards to doing business with that vendor.

         12        Q.    And when, if you know, was the

         13   favorable results generated?

         14        A.    In May 2003.

         15        Q.    What happened after that in terms of

         16   the relationship with NorVergence?

         17        A.    We then enter into a program agreement

         18   with the respective vendor.

         19        Q.    What's a program agreement?

         20        A.    It's an agreement signed between both

         21   parties, which outlines the purpose of the

         22   relationship.  And it will go into such things as

         23   duly authorized on both sides to enter into the

         24   agreement; it will set out the sales process; it

         25   will set out the credit process for review of the
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          1   potential lessees; it will walk through the

          2   documentation and telephone verification process;

          3   it will have in there the reps and warranties on

          4   both sides, representations from the vendor with

          5   regards to the dually organized, no problem on

          6   their part; the documentation is in order, to the

          7   best of their knowledge; the credit criteria is

          8   given to us by the customer; and then we have in

          9   there the terms of the agreement.

         10        Q.    All right.  And what was the agreement

         11   in terms of what NorVergence was going to do?

         12              By the way, let me strike that for a

         13   second.

         14              Can you tell me what the business of

         15   NorVergence was at that time?

         16        A.    Our understanding is that they were a

         17   full phone service equipment supplier providing a

         18   service out to customers with regards to their

         19   telecommunications process.

         20        Q.    Did they have any equipment?

         21        A.    Yes.

         22        Q.    What was that?

         23        A.    It was called a Matrix system.

         24        Q.    Did they sell that to customers?

         25        A.    Yes.

                                                                       18

          1        Q.    Did the program agreement cover both

          2   telephone services and this Matrix?

          3        A.    Just the equipment.

          4        Q.    Just the Matrix?

          5        A.    Hm‑hmm.  Yes.

          6        Q.    You'll have to be audible, because she

          7   has to write that down.

          8              How was this lease number program going

          9   to work in terms of the Matrix equipment that

         10   NorVergence sold to customers in relation to

         11   Commerce Commercial Leasing and Partners Equity

         12   Capital?

         13        A.    You want to understand the process we

         14   had with Commerce Commercial Leasing and

         15   NorVergence?

         16        Q.    Just with NorVergence.

         17        A.    In our operating agreement we had with

         18   Commerce Bank, they authorized us and gave us

         19   power of attorney to act in their behalf.  We then

         20   signed this program agreement with NorVergence.

         21   And I outlined what is applying to that program

         22   agreement.

         23              NorVergence would then go through their

         24   respective sales process.  And after that was

         25   completed, we would get an application from
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          1   NorVergence and we would analyze the credit

          2   criteria of that respective lessee.

          3              We used ‑‑ we would review the lessee's

          4   Dunn & Bradstreet Report and Credit Bureau Report

          5   if the personal guarantor was on the transaction.

          6   We would run that through a scorecard, Fair Isaac

          7   scorecard.  Scorecard is industry standard used by

          8   all your major banks, et cetera.  We would then

          9   score the lessee and agree or not agree to do the

         10   transaction.

         11        Q.    Now, let me back up to where we were

         12   before talking about the initial program

         13   agreement.  You also mentioned that Commerce Bank

         14   gave authority to whom?

         15        A.    To Partners Equity Capital Company.

         16        Q.    And what was the authority again?

         17        A.    It's an operating agreement which

         18   allows us to entertain doing business with their

         19   respective vendors.  There are reps and

         20   warranties, net operating agreements, service

         21   level standards.

         22        Q.    Now, I just want to make sure I'm clear

         23   on this.  We have three entities that we've been

         24   talking about this morning.  One is the Commerce

         25   Bank, the second one is Commerce Commercial
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          1   Leasing, and the third is Partners Equity Capital;

          2   correct?

          3        A.    Hm‑hmm.  Yes.

          4        Q.    Did the Commerce Bank have any direct

          5   relationship with the NorVergence leasing program?

          6        A.    My understanding was the prospect

          7   customer of the bank.

          8        Q.    What does that mean?

          9        A.    They were a potential customer of

         10   Commerce Bank.

         11        Q.    In terms of banking ‑‑

         12        A.    Not sure.

         13        Q.     ‑‑ affairs?

         14        A.    Not sure.

         15        Q.    Was there, to your knowledge, any

         16   agreements or leasing agreements or other

         17   contracts between Commerce Bank and NorVergence?

         18        A.    No, there were not any.

         19        Q.    Were all of the contract agreements

         20   with NorVergence with Partners Equity?

         21        A.    It was with Commerce Commercial Leasing

         22   under our program.  Commerce Commercial Leasing

         23   and Partners Equity you can view as being one and

         24   the same in this process.

         25        Q.    Why would they be one and the same?
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          1        A.    Because we had a program agreement with

          2   Commerce Bank giving us the authority to operate

          3   as Commerce Commercial Leasing.

          4        Q.    Is Partners Equity a subsidiary or ‑‑

          5   what's the relationship to Commerce Clearing?

          6        MR. BLUM:  Commerce Commercial.

          7   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          8        Q.    I'm sorry.  Commerce Commercial, I'm

          9   sorry, Leasing.

         10        A.    There is no ‑‑ we are not a subsidiary

         11   or any kind of financial part of Commerce Bank.

         12        Q.    What is the agreement between Partners

         13   Equity Capital and Commerce Commercial Leasing?

         14        A.    Do you mean Commerce Bank?

         15        Q.    No, I mean Commerce Commercial Leasing.

         16        A.    Our arrangement, operating agreement

         17   was Commerce Bank.  In there, they give us the

         18   authority to use the name Commerce Commercial

         19   Leasing.

         20        Q.    Do you know why that was done that way?

         21        A.    It's our normal operating procedure to

         22   have an agreement done with a financial

         23   institution, whether ‑‑ if we're going to do

         24   equipment leasing for either their customers

         25   whether they be vendors or their normal business
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          1   customers.

          2        Q.    Well, my question was, do you know why

          3   Commerce Commercial Leasing and Commerce Bank was

          4   allowing Partners Equity Capital in terms of this

          5   program with NorVergence to use this Commerce

          6   Commercial Leasing title?

          7        A.    In standard banking arrangements that

          8   we do with our financial institutions, it's common

          9   practice to use the name of the bank as a private

         10   label concept.  We do that with all the other

         11   financial institutions we do business with.

         12        Q.    What is the reason for using such as

         13   Commerce Commercial Leasing as a private label?

         14   Do you know why?

         15        A.    It's standard industry, standard

         16   practice to use that because you're a servicing

         17   agent of the bank.  You're servicing their

         18   customers.

         19        Q.    All right.  Now, we talked about

         20   NorVergence and their operations and what they

         21   were doing.  And they had telephone services and

         22   they had this Matrix box as you explained earlier.

         23              What was the arrangement in terms of

         24   the Matrix box that was sold to NorVergence

         25   customers and Partners Equity Capital for using
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          1   the private label Commerce Commercial Leasing?

          2        A.    Okay.  Commerce Commercial Leasing was

          3   the name of our program.  We signed a program

          4   agreement with Commerce Commercial Leasing and

          5   NorVergence.  NorVergence would go and obtain

          6   customers with the sale of its equipment and other

          7   services.  We then ‑‑ they would make that sale.

          8   We would come in after the fact.  We were not

          9   involved in any way in the up‑front sale of the

         10   equipment.

         11              After they made their arrangements, we

         12   would get the credit application, approve or

         13   decline the application.  If we approved it, then

         14   they would get the documentation to us.  We would

         15   review that documentation and make sure it was

         16   complete.  We would obtain an invoice from

         17   NorVergence for the price of the equipment.  Then

         18   we would go through an independent process of

         19   NorVergence where we ‑‑ and it's our standard

         20   practice to do this.  We do this in all our vendor

         21   relationships, is to call the customer

         22   independently, confirm their legal name, legal

         23   address, our talking with the individual that

         24   signed the documentation.  We would confirm the

         25   terms of the agreement.  We would confirm the
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          1   billing address, their respective due date.

          2              Under this program, we had a $75

          3   documentation fee, which we would tell the

          4   customer would show up on their first invoice.  We

          5   would tell them about interim rent that would show

          6   up on their first invoice.  We would then let them

          7   be aware that they will have to provide insurance

          8   on the equipment.  We will then confirm they sign

          9   the deliver and acceptance agreement.  We will

         10   then ask them is everything okay, because we have

         11   not funded NorVergence at this point.  And is

         12   everything okay with the equipment, is it okay to

         13   proceed and fund NorVergence?

         14              If they said yes, then we would book

         15   the transaction.  If they did not or gave any

         16   hesitancy about starting the lease contract, we

         17   would not fund the transaction and not book the

         18   transaction on our system.  This is our standard

         19   process no matter what vendor we do business with.

         20        Q.    Now, in terms of you would obtain or

         21   look at obtaining the lease number?  Is that

         22   correct, it was a lease number of the equipment?

         23        A.    It was a rental agreement.

         24        Q.    It was a rental agreement.

         25        A.    Hm‑hmm.
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          1        Q.    Is there a difference between a rental

          2   agreement and a lease number?

          3        MR. BLUM:  Object to the form of the

          4   question.  I think that's ‑‑ that could be

          5   talking ‑‑ we could be talking all day about the

          6   differences between potential ‑‑ all different

          7   types of forms here.

          8   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          9        Q.    Let me rephrase this.

         10              In terms of your leasing business, and

         11   I'm talking about Commerce Commercial

         12   Leasing/Partners Equity, is there a difference

         13   between a rental agreement and a lease agreement?

         14        A.    From the legal standpoint as

         15   referenced ‑‑

         16        Q.    Based on your personal knowledge.

         17        A.    No, because our terminology is the

         18   same.  The documents have the same terminology and

         19   terms.

         20        Q.    Are they used interchangeably at

         21   Commerce Clearing and Commerce Commercial Leasing

         22   and Partners Equity?

         23        A.    Yes.

         24        Q.    In terms of the relationship with

         25   NorVergence and Commerce Commercial, was the term
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          1   "rental agreement" used or was the term "lease

          2   agreement" used?

          3        A.    You can use both interchangeably.

          4        Q.    And what is your understanding of the

          5   rental agreement with ‑‑ between NorVergence and

          6   their customers?

          7        A.    Well, we were not involved in the

          8   process up front when they were signing the

          9   documentation with the customer.

         10        Q.    I understand.

         11        A.    We came in after the fact.  But the

         12   document that was used we had reviewed by our

         13   internal counsel, approved the documentation.  The

         14   documentation fits all the parameters with regards

         15   to the use of the equipment, the term, the fault

         16   remedies, your UCC Article 2‑A requirements,

         17   maintaining the equipment, providing insurance on

         18   the equipment, et cetera.

         19        Q.    Well, I understand what counsel did.

         20   I'd like to know, if you know, what your knowledge

         21   was of this rental agreement with NorVergence.

         22   What did that, based on your personal knowledge,

         23   reflect in terms of business procedures and

         24   practices?

         25        A.    This is part of our normal business
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          1   process.

          2        Q.    Okay.  What was it?  What was the

          3   rental agreement?  Tell me, you know, who's

          4   renting what.  Okay?

          5        A.    The customer ‑‑ through the program

          6   agreement, okay, all the authorities, warranties

          7   and so forth have passed over to Commerce

          8   Commercial Leasing.  And through the lease number

          9   or rental agreement, we're able to enforce those

         10   requirements on that contract.

         11        Q.    The rental agreement covered the

         12   Matrix; is that correct?

         13        A.    Yes.

         14        Q.    Is that the only thing that this rental

         15   agreement covered?

         16        A.    Yes.

         17        Q.    The rental agreement ‑‑ did the rental

         18   agreement cover telecommunication services

         19   provided by NorVergence?

         20        A.    They had a separate service which they

         21   billed the customer separately.

         22        Q.    Now, earlier you were speaking about

         23   what Commerce Clearing and ‑‑

         24        MR. BLUM:  Commerce Commercial.

         25        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  I'm sorry.  I'll probably
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          1   do that all day long.  I'm sorry.

          2   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          3        Q.    ‑‑ Commerce Commercial Leasing and

          4   Partners Equity did in terms of reviewing various

          5   customers of NorVergence in terms of leasing.

          6              My question is, you talked about a

          7   delivery and acceptance.  What is that?

          8        A.    It's a document which is standard in

          9   the leasing industry as part of the lease

         10   documents where the customer verifies they've

         11   taken delivery of the equipment and accepted the

         12   equipment.

         13        Q.    Does that mean that the customer

         14   actually has a Matrix box that's been installed?

         15        A.    Yes.

         16        Q.    Does it mean that the box is operative?

         17        A.    That is ‑‑ I can only say that's in the

         18   viewpoint of the customer.  If the customer signs

         19   that document before telephone verification, if

         20   they indicate to us everything is working and

         21   everything is fine, then we fund the transaction.

         22        Q.    Now, what you're telling me is, not

         23   only do they sign a document that reflects

         24   delivery and acceptance, but also, Commerce

         25   Commercial Leasing is going to call the individual
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          1   NorVergence customer?

          2        A.    Yes.

          3        Q.    Would Commerce Commercial Leasing

          4   already have the written delivery and acceptance

          5   form?

          6        A.    Yes.

          7        Q.    If Commerce Commercial Leasing already

          8   had the written delivery and acceptance form, why

          9   did they call the customer to verify it again?

         10        A.    With our leasing background and

         11   expertise, this is a standard practice we've used

         12   at this company and also in previous companies.

         13   We view it as a customer service function to go

         14   through this step.  By going through this step, we

         15   believe it avoids future customer service

         16   problems.  And it's just an independent

         17   verification that ‑‑ with the customer that

         18   everything is okay with proceeding with the lease.

         19        Q.    Now, do you know typically how quickly

         20   Commerce Commercial Leasing would approve taking

         21   over any NorVergence lease with a customer?

         22        A.    Can you repeat that question?

         23        Q.    What I'm looking for is how quickly

         24   Commerce Commercial Leasing would review and

         25   approve any potential lease between NorVergence
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          1   and one of their customers.

          2        MR. BLUM:  I object to the form.  You can

          3   answer.

          4   BY THE WITNESS:

          5        A.    Okay.  It was part of our standard

          6   operating procedure that any application we

          7   received that was under $75,000 we would approve

          8   or decline within one hour of receipt.

          9   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         10        Q.    What about over 75,000?

         11        A.    We would then require financial

         12   statements on the respective customer and

         13   references.

         14        MR. CULPEPPER:  I'm sorry.  What was the

         15   figure under and over?

         16   BY THE WITNESS:

         17        A.    75,000.

         18        MR. CULPEPPER:  Thank you.

         19   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         20        Q.    How quickly could ‑‑ do you know how

         21   quickly it was that they approved ‑‑ Commerce

         22   Commercial Leasing approved a lease involving over

         23   $75,000?

         24        A.    Approximately, we did it under one

         25   hour.

                                                                       31

          1        MR. BLUM:  Over 75?

          2   BY THE WITNESS:

          3        A.    Over 75?

          4   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          5        Q.    Over.

          6        A.    Are you asking me how long it took to

          7   approve the transactions ‑‑

          8        Q.    Correct.

          9        A.    Once we received the financial

         10   statements and the credit references, from that

         11   standpoint, we would do it in eight business

         12   hours.

         13        Q.    Excuse me?

         14        A.    Eight business hours.

         15        Q.    Do you know how quickly NorVergence was

         16   referring various equipment contracts to

         17   Commercial Leasing?

         18        MR. BLUM:  Object to form.  You can answer if

         19   you understand.

         20   BY THE WITNESS:

         21        A.    I don't know.

         22   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         23        Q.    Who would know that?

         24        A.    Can you repeat that question?

         25        Q.    Okay.  What I'm trying to determine
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          1   here is how quickly NorVergence after some

          2   customer entered into an equipment rental

          3   agreement would refer this to Commercial Leasing?

          4        A.    Don't know.

          5        Q.    Do you know who would know that?

          6        A.    No, because we wouldn't keep track of

          7   how quickly NorVergence sent us the information.

          8        Q.    You didn't have any reports that

          9   reflected that kind of thing?

         10        A.    We would have reports of how many

         11   applications were received, how many were

         12   approved, how many were declined, and how many

         13   were booked and funded.

         14        Q.    Now, based on your personal knowledge

         15   of the leasing business, was the business with

         16   NorVergence better or worse than other leasing

         17   companies?

         18        MR. BLUM:  Object to the form.  When you say

         19   better or worse, I mean ‑‑

         20   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         21        Q.    Well, do you know how that compared to

         22   the other lease businesses?

         23        MR. BLUM:  I'll again object.  In comparison

         24   to what, though?

         25   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

                                                                       33

          1        Q.    In terms of, you know, problems,

          2   violations of business rules or regulations or

          3   anything.

          4        MR. BLUM:  I'm going to object to form.  You

          5   can answer.

          6   BY THE WITNESS:

          7        A.    Are you asking the question with

          8   respect to the lessees?

          9   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         10        Q.    I'm asking this in respect to

         11   NorVergence's leasing program where NorVergence

         12   was referring rental agreements to Commercial ‑‑

         13   Commerce?

         14        MR. BLUM:  Continue my objection to form.  Go

         15   ahead and answer if you understand.

         16   BY THE WITNESS:

         17        A.    All I now is how our lessees were

         18   scored and how they performed.  I don't know about

         19   the other companies.

         20   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         21        Q.    Was the decline rate more or less than

         22   the other companies that Commerce Commercial

         23   Leasing was dealing with?

         24        A.    The credit was somewhat better quality.

         25   We were very stringent across‑the‑board on our
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          1   credit criteria.  We scored all the transactions.

          2        Q.    Did there ever come a point in time

          3   where Commerce Commercial Leasing and Partners

          4   Equity Capital had any kind of business problems

          5   in terms of servicing the leases with

          6   NorVergence?

          7        MR. BLUM:  I'll object to the form.  Go ahead

          8   and answer.

          9   BY THE WITNESS:

         10        A.    Are you asking overall or over a

         11   certain per of time or ‑‑

         12   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         13        Q.    Overall.

         14        A.    In time, there were service issues that

         15   the lessees came to have.

         16        Q.    What kind of service issues?

         17        A.    That ‑‑ one part was that they weren't

         18   returning phone calls from NorVergence and at one

         19   time as the installations of the equipment was not

         20   taking place.

         21        Q.    Do you know when those kind of issues

         22   first arose?

         23        A.    Our first issues with regard to their

         24   phone system was in the fourth quarter of 2003,

         25   and on the installations issues it was primarily
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          1   in ‑‑ started the end of January through May 2004.

          2        Q.    What action, if any, did Commerce

          3   Commercial Leasing take?

          4        A.    In regards to the telephone service, we

          5   called NorVergence.  And their reply to us was

          6   that they're hiring additional staff and replacing

          7   their phone system.  With regards to the

          8   installation of the equipment, it was instances

          9   whereas some of their vendors, Southwest Bell was

         10   slow in installing the equipment.

         11        Q.    What action, if any, did Commerce

         12   Commercial Leasing take after they found out these

         13   reasons that NorVergence gave?

         14        A.    Can you define that question a little

         15   bit further for me?

         16        Q.    Did they do anything?  Did Commercial

         17   Leasing do anything after they said, for example,

         18   we're replacing our phone system, we're ‑‑

         19   Southwest Bell is slow in installation?  Was the

         20   issues, the service issues then dropped or did

         21   Commerce Commercial Leasing do something?

         22        MR. BLUM:  Object to the form.  You can

         23   answer.

         24   BY THE WITNESS:

         25        A.    Repeat the question again for me.
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          1   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          2        Q.    It's really pretty simple.  I'm just

          3   asking whether or not Commercial Leasing after

          4   they discovered what the reasons were for

          5   noninstallations and so forth, whether Commercial

          6   Leasing did anything to correct that or ‑‑

          7        A.    We made NorVergence aware of the

          8   customers calling because we were not booking

          9   deals because it was not being installed.  And so

         10   therefore, we ‑‑ then they said it was an issue,

         11   just an isolated issue that they were correcting.

         12        Q.    Did Commerce Commercial not accept

         13   certain lease referrals from NorVergence at that

         14   point?

         15        A.    We stopped doing business with

         16   NorVergence in June ‑‑ May, end of May, 2004.

         17        Q.    But in this period, though, between

         18   January and May 2004, when these issues came up,

         19   did Commerce not approve certain leases?

         20        A.    We stopped taking applications from

         21   NorVergence in January of 2004.  We had to honor

         22   our approvals that were out there.  If we would

         23   receive documents and we got pushed back from the

         24   customer that everything was not done, we would

         25   not fund the transaction.
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          1        Q.    Do you know what percentage of the

          2   total Commerce Commercial Leasing business that

          3   the NorVergence lease business represented?

          4        MR. BLUM:  Object to form of the question

          5   unless you can define time.

          6   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          7        Q.    Well, let's start with in January 2004.

          8        A.    January 2004 was approximately

          9   60 percent of our net outstandings.

         10        Q.    Was that the largest percentage of the

         11   total business that NorVergence ever had with

         12   Commerce?

         13        A.    Yes.

         14        Q.    And today, as we speak, what is the

         15   total percentage of NorVergence leases in terms of

         16   total business of Commerce?

         17        A.    Approximately 20 percent.

         18        MR. BLUM:  I'm sorry.  You should really

         19   clarify that, because it's only the Commerce part

         20   that you're aware that Partners Equity does.

         21   BY THE WITNESS:

         22        A.    Yes.

         23        MR. BLUM:  Yes.  Okay.  He told you before

         24   Commerce Commercial Leasing does other things.  So

         25   this is the Partners ‑‑
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          1   BY THE WITNESS:

          2        A.    The Partners Equity, it is 20 percent

          3   of the outstanding net investments of Partners

          4   Equity.

          5   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          6        Q.    Thank you.

          7              Do you have any knowledge about what

          8   the NorVergence leases represent in terms of the

          9   total Commerce Commercial Leasing?

         10        A.    I do not.

         11        Q.    Now, originally when Commerce Leasing

         12   and Partners Equity Capital ‑‑ let me rephrase.

         13              As I understand, Partners Equity

         14   Capital had other business vendors other than

         15   NorVergence; is that correct?

         16        A.    Correct.

         17        Q.    And there was something ‑‑ I think you

         18   said around 40 or so?

         19        A.    Correct.

         20        Q.    Who did the review of NorVergence when

         21   you were lucky to have a relationship with

         22   NorVergence?  Was it Partners Equity?

         23        A.    Partners Equity.

         24        Q.    And did Commerce Commercial ever look

         25   at this themselves in terms of a review of
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          1   NorVergence before having this relationship with

          2   Partners Equity and using the Commerce Commercial

          3   name?

          4        A.    I don't know.

          5        MR. BLUM:  Off the record.

          6                (WHEREUPON, discussion was had

          7                off the record.)

          8   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          9        Q.    Sir, if you would, just generally

         10   explain what the relationship is between Commerce

         11   Commercial Leasing and Commerce Bank and Partners

         12   Equity.

         13        A.    Okay.  Our arrangement is through an

         14   operating agreement between Partners Equity

         15   Capital Company and Commerce Bank to do equipment

         16   leasing for their vendor customers.  The name

         17   Commerce Commercial Leasing is a ‑‑ could call it

         18   a trade style doing business as.  But all the

         19   business is processed under Commerce Commercial

         20   Leasing, but it's actually through Partners Equity

         21   Capital Company.  All the credit approval, the

         22   funding, the reviews are done as Partners Equity

         23   Capital Company.

         24        Q.    And Partners Equity pays the money to

         25   NorVergence ‑‑
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          1        A.    Yes.

          2        Q.    ‑‑ or any other leasing vendor?

          3        A.    We pay money to the vendor.

          4        Q.    And Commerce Leasing is actually

          5   Commerce Bank?

          6        A.    Yes.

          7        Q.    Commerce Leasing is a program of

          8   Commerce Bank?

          9        A.    Commerce Commercial Leasing is a name

         10   and/or operating agreement authorizing us to use

         11   that name as Partners Equity Capital Company doing

         12   business for Commerce Commercial Bank ‑‑ Commerce

         13   Bank customers, vendor customers.

         14        Q.    And that agreement is with Commerce

         15   Bank?

         16        A.    Yes.

         17        Q.    Now, in terms of the lease transactions

         18   with NorVergence and Partners Equity, was there

         19   any collateral that supported the money paid to

         20   NorVergence?

         21        A.    The Matrix system.

         22        Q.    Was that the only collateral?

         23        A.    Yes.

         24        MR. BLUM:  Object.  One second.  Aren't there

         25   some of these leases that cover things more than
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          1   the Matrix?

          2   BY THE WITNESS:

          3        A.    Yes.  In some cases, it could be some

          4   phone sets or other preferable equipment.

          5   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          6        Q.    So from time to time, not all leases.

          7   There could be other than the Matrix equipment,

          8   other telecommunications equipment such as phones?

          9        A.    Phones.

         10        Q.    Did Partners Equity ever review and

         11   assess the value of the Matrix equipment?

         12        A.    Partners Equity is in the small‑ticket

         13   environment, will do a basic review of the

         14   equipment.  This was a lease purchase product.

         15   And that is, if there is no residual position

         16   taken at the end of the lease, if it was a fair

         17   market value lease, we would do an in‑depth

         18   extensive study on the equipment determining its

         19   future value.

         20              In the case with NorVergence, this was

         21   a lease purchase.  We did a basic review of the

         22   equipment and had an interview with NorVergence

         23   and their explanation of the equipment and we ‑‑

         24   that any small‑ticket process viewed it as that

         25   this would be typical of a normal transaction.
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          1        Q.    Now, you talked about a fair market

          2   value lease and a lease purchase.  What's a fair

          3   market lease ‑‑ a fair market value lease?

          4        A.    A fair market value lease in the

          5   leasing industry is referred to as a tax‑oriented

          6   lease, whereas there is benefits that the

          7   respective lessee can take.

          8              In a lease purchase, it's a simple

          9   term.  And at the end of the term, it's usually a

         10   dollar or hundred dollar option.

         11        Q.    Is that the kind of option that related

         12   to the NorVergence leases?

         13        A.    Yes.

         14        Q.    And what does that mean, hundred dollar

         15   option?

         16        A.    In this case here with NorVergence,

         17   NorVergence paid the $100, the equipment was

         18   theirs.

         19        Q.    So NorVergence could purchase the

         20   Matrix equipment or any phone equipment that was

         21   part of the rental agreement?

         22        A.    Yes.

         23        Q.    When could NorVergence do that?

         24        A.    At the end of the lease after the

         25   customer made successful payments.
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          1        Q.    Do you know if Partners Equity had put

          2   any cost figure on the Matrix equipment?

          3        A.    No, there would have been no need for

          4   us to do that, since this is a lease purchase.  In

          5   our review process, our source of repayment

          6   entirely is the credit review of the customer, the

          7   creditworthiness of the customer.  We do not look

          8   at the equipment at all as a secondary source of

          9   payment.  As I stated earlier, we look at the Dunn

         10   & Bradstreet reports, score it through our leasing

         11   scorecards and then approved or declined a

         12   transaction, but it's basically creditworthiness

         13   of the customer.

         14        Q.    Did Partners Equity do anything in

         15   terms of trying to protect their collateral

         16   interest in the Matrix equipment?

         17        A.    The only thing we require is to make

         18   sure per the agreement that the equipment was

         19   maintained and they provide insurance on the

         20   equipment.

         21        Q.    Did Partners Equity ever repossess,

         22   take an interest in the Matrix equipment when a

         23   lessee failed to pay their lease payments?

         24        A.    No, we did not.

         25        Q.    Do you know if anyone at Partners

                                                                       44

          1   Equity or Commerce Bank had knowledge at any time

          2   about the value of the Matrix equipment?

          3        MR. BLUM:  Object to the form.  You can

          4   answer.

          5   BY THE WITNESS:

          6        A.    In ‑‑ repeat the question.

          7   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          8        Q.    At any time, did anyone, either at

          9   Commerce Bank or Partners Equity, have knowledge

         10   of the value, the cost, if you will, of the Matrix

         11   equipment?

         12        MR. BLUM:  Object to the form again.  When

         13   you say cost, do you mean what NorVergence paid

         14   for it?

         15        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Correct.

         16   BY THE WITNESS:

         17        A.    No.  We determine our cost by what was

         18   provided to us by NorVergence.

         19   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         20        Q.    Do you know what the amount was

         21   reflected on the Matrix invoice from NorVergence?

         22        A.    Yes.

         23        Q.    What was that?

         24        A.    It could vary per transaction, but it

         25   was what their equipment cost was.
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          1        Q.    How do you know that was their

          2   equipment cost?

          3        A.    They determined the cost.  We weren't

          4   involved in that process, the up‑front process.

          5        Q.    So in other words, Partners Equity took

          6   whatever the amount was on the invoice provided by

          7   NorVergence as the cost of the Matrix equipment?

          8        A.    Yes.

          9        Q.    Do you know why the cost reflected on a

         10   NorVergence invoice was different from time to

         11   time?

         12        A.    At one time, we talked with individuals

         13   at NorVergence.  And the explanation given to us

         14   was with regard to the technology in part involved

         15   in the Matrix box.  And it could vary transaction

         16   to transaction.

         17        Q.    Did Partners Equity also know what the

         18   value of the Matrix equipment was based on the

         19   purchase price by NorVergence customers?

         20        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form again.  You can

         21   answer.

         22   BY THE WITNESS:

         23        A.    Repeat that question.

         24   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         25        Q.    Did Partners Equity know the purchase
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          1   price by NorVergence customers?

          2        A.    It was reflected on the invoice given

          3   to us by NorVergence.

          4        Q.    So are you telling me, then, that

          5   Partners Equity did not make any difference

          6   between the cost and the purchase price of the

          7   Matrix equipment?

          8        MR. BLUM:  Object to form.  You keep saying

          9   cost, meaning cost that they ‑‑

         10        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Cost to NorVergence.

         11        MR. BLUM:  And he's using the word cost as

         12   what did it cost Partners Equity.

         13   BY THE WITNESS:

         14        A.    I have no idea of their cost to

         15   NorVergence.  Our only cost is reflected on the

         16   invoice given to us by NorVergence.

         17   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         18        Q.    Well, let me back up so we are clear on

         19   the record.  The questions I'm asking you about

         20   cost are the cost to NorVergence to purchase the

         21   Matrix equipment.

         22              Again, did Partners Equity, other than

         23   the invoice that was given by NorVergence to

         24   Partners Equity, have any idea what the cost of

         25   the Matrix equipment was to NorVergence?
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          1        A.    I don't know.

          2        Q.    You don't know whether ‑‑ excuse me.

          3        A.    I don't know what NorVergence paid for

          4   their equipment.

          5        Q.    Do you know whether Partners Equity

          6   knew what the purchase price of Matrix equipment

          7   by NorVergence customers was?

          8        A.    No.

          9        Q.    Do you make any distinction as to the

         10   cost to NorVergence and the purchase price to

         11   NorVergence customers as it relates to the invoice

         12   that was provided Partners Equity?

         13        A.    All our cost on the transaction was

         14   based on the invoice provided by NorVergence.

         15        MR. BLUM:  Could we take a break for five

         16   minutes?

         17        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Sure.

         18                (WHEREUPON, a recess was had.)

         19        MR. BLUM:  I'm going to ask him to just

         20   clarify cost on the way he understood what was on

         21   that invoice.  I think we left the record really

         22   unclear.

         23        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Okay.

         24   BY THE WITNESS:

         25        A.    In response to that clarification, our
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          1   cost to us was a cost that was listed on the

          2   invoice.  To our understanding, that was a cost

          3   that was negotiated between the customer and

          4   NorVergence.  We were not involved in that

          5   negotiation.

          6        MR. KATSAFANAS:  When you say cost, you mean

          7   the price between the customer and NorVergence?

          8   BY THE WITNESS:

          9        A.    Right; price.

         10   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         11        Q.    Do you know if it was a concern to ‑‑

         12   at any time to Partners Equity what the actual

         13   value of the Matrix equipment was?

         14        A.    Repeat the question again, please.

         15        Q.    Was it ever a concern to Partners

         16   Equity what the actual value of the Matrix

         17   equipment was?

         18        A.    No, not a concern to Partners Equity.

         19        Q.    And why was that?

         20        A.    Because ‑‑

         21        MR. CULPEPPER:  Now, you're meaning cost

         22   again, cost to NorVergence?

         23         MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Any kind of value that

         24   might have been attributed by Partners Equity in

         25   terms of the equipment that they had a lease on,
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          1   you know.

          2        MR. CULPEPPER:  The value ‑‑ I hope I have

          3   value, but my cost ‑‑

          4        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Well, I asked him in

          5   terms of any value.  And apparently, it doesn't

          6   matter.

          7   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          8        Q.    Is that correct?

          9        A.    Correct.

         10        Q.    And why is it that it didn't matter

         11   what the value of the Matrix equipment might be?

         12        A.    Because we weren't looking to ‑‑

         13   equipment is a source of repayment as part of the

         14   transaction.  We look at the creditworthiness of

         15   the customer.

         16        Q.    Let me go back to some figures that you

         17   gave me earlier.  And I don't mean to put words in

         18   your mouth.  You tell me if I'm correct on this.

         19   But I understood you to say that in January 2004,

         20   about 60 percent of the net Equity Partners' lease

         21   business was NorVergence.

         22        A.    Correct.

         23        Q.    And today it's 20 percent?

         24        A.    Correct.

         25        Q.    Now, what happened to the 40 percent?
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          1        MR. BLUM:  Object to the form.

          2   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          3        Q.    In terms ‑‑ did you recover all of the

          4   money that was paid to NorVergence on those

          5   leases?

          6        MR. BLUM:  Object again.  You're assuming

          7   that their business hasn't changed otherwise, and

          8   that's not necessarily correct.

          9        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  I'm not sure I understand

         10   that.

         11   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         12        Q.    Go ahead and answer if you can.

         13        A.    It is 20 percent of our total net

         14   investment today because we do other business.

         15        Q.    Well, I'm talking about the other

         16   40 percent of the leases that once existed.  And

         17   my question is, do you know how those leases were

         18   resolved?

         19        MR. BLUM:  Object to form again.  You're

         20   assuming that those percentages changed because

         21   those leases changed versus the whole pie changed.

         22   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         23        Q.    Well, let me ask you.  Is it 20 percent

         24   because now you have additional business with

         25   other vendors?
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          1        A.    Yes.

          2        Q.    In terms of the total amount of

          3   NorVergence leases with Partners Equity, what is

          4   the status of those leases; do you know?

          5        A.    Yes.

          6        Q.    Can you tell me that?

          7        A.    Yes.

          8        Q.    Okay.  Go ahead, please.

          9        A.    With respect to what ‑‑ you want an

         10   answer with respect to the overall NorVergence

         11   portfolio or just the accounts in Florida?

         12        Q.    The accounts in Florida.  Go ahead.

         13        A.    We have 80 accounts in Florida.

         14        Q.    And are those ‑‑ have any of those

         15   defaulted?

         16        A.    Yes.

         17        Q.    How many?

         18        A.    We have filed 43 complaints in the

         19   State of Pennsylvania, Montgomery County,

         20   Pennsylvania.

         21        Q.    What is the total number of NorVergence

         22   leases that Equity Partners has nationwide?

         23        A.    The number of accounts?

         24        Q.    Yes.

         25        A.    636.
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          1        Q.    And how many of the total 636 have

          2   defaulted?

          3        A.    Can you define default for me?

          4        Q.    Well, you used that term earlier.  What

          5   did you mean by default?

          6        A.    Default is if they're past due in their

          7   payments.

          8        Q.    Okay.  That's good.

          9        A.    All 636 ‑‑ I'm sorry.  Let me correct

         10   that.  154 of the 636 are paying as agreed.

         11        Q.    Has Partners Equity instituted

         12   litigation on the remaining however many accounts

         13   that aren't paying?

         14        A.    We have filed 393 complaints.  We have

         15   approximately 25 that are in our normal collection

         16   pool following for payments, and we have

         17   approximately 114, which we have settled with,

         18   total settlement with.

         19        Q.    Have you settled with anybody in

         20   Florida?

         21        A.    Yes.

         22        Q.    How many?

         23        A.    I believe it's 11 accounts.

         24        Q.    Now, the remaining 20‑some accounts

         25   that either have not had litigation filed or
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          1   settled, they're paying on time?

          2        A.    Yes.

          3        MR. BLUM:  You were talking about Florida;

          4   right?

          5        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Florida, yes.

          6   BY THE WITNESS:

          7        A.    Yes.

          8   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          9        Q.    Now, did there come a time in the lease

         10   program run by Partners Equity that NorVergence

         11   assigned their contract with their customers?

         12        MR. BLUM:  Object to form.  You can answer.

         13   BY THE WITNESS:

         14        A.    Is your question did ‑‑ was the

         15   transaction we do at NorVergence assigned to us?

         16   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         17        Q.    Yes.

         18        A.    Yes.

         19        Q.    And how did that work?  Tell me about

         20   that.

         21        A.    It was part of our program agreement

         22   where they assigned all the leases to us, gave us

         23   power of attorney.  When we booked the transaction

         24   and if we funded NorVergence, we sent a notice of

         25   assignment to the lessee.
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          1        Q.    And the lease assignment was for what

          2   amount?

          3        MR. BLUM:  Object to form.

          4   BY THE WITNESS:

          5        A.    What amount?  Define what amount.

          6   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          7        Q.    In other words, what amount were you

          8   going to pay NorVergence?

          9        A.    The amount reflected on the invoice.

         10        Q.    You paid them the full amount of what

         11   was listed on the invoice?

         12        A.    Yes.

         13        Q.    Did Partners Equity always ‑‑  did

         14   Partners Equity ever discount the amount of money

         15   paid on a lease?

         16        MR. BLUM:  Object to form.  Are we talking

         17   about in the NorVergence situation?

         18        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Any business.

         19   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         20        Q.    Any vendor that you might have had a

         21   relationship with in terms of leasing.  Did you

         22   ever discount the amount that was paid to the

         23   leasing company?

         24        A.    No.

         25        MR. BLUM:  Wait.  Paid to the leasing
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          1   company?

          2   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          3        Q.    To the vendor.

          4        A.    What we pay on each transaction is what

          5   is reflected on the invoice.  If there was any

          6   discounting of the equipment or anything like

          7   that, that was done between the customer and the

          8   respective vendor.

          9        Q.    Do you know if the assignment of the

         10   rental agreements from NorVergence ever contained

         11   an amount that was ‑‑ I'm talking about an invoice

         12   amount for the equipment ‑‑ contained something

         13   other than the Matrix equipment or telephone

         14   equipment or something like that?

         15        MR. BLUM:  Object to form.  You can answer.

         16   BY THE WITNESS:

         17        A.    Can you repeat the question?

         18   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         19        Q.    Sure.  Does the lease assignment only

         20   cover equipment or do you know if it covered

         21   something other than equipment from time to time?

         22        A.    It just covered equipment.

         23        Q.    Did Partners Equity ever get complaints

         24   from vendor customers of NorVergence about the

         25   lease incorporating telecommunication services
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          1   other than the equipment?

          2        A.    Yes.  Customers occasionally would call

          3   us and say they were having problems on some part

          4   with NorVergence.  We would refer that customer

          5   back to NorVergence and we would contact

          6   individuals at NorVergence to make them aware of

          7   the customer.

          8        Q.    When you contacted NorVergence about

          9   this issue of complaints about telecommunications

         10   services, what did NorVergence say; do you know?

         11        A.    They would have somebody ‑‑ one of

         12   their representatives contact the lessee.

         13        Q.    Was that issue about the

         14   telecommunications services being ‑‑ complaints

         15   have any concern to Partners Equity at all?

         16        A.    No, because we made it clear to the

         17   lessee that we were not involved in any part of

         18   that service.  We were just doing the equipment.

         19        Q.    At any time, did NorVergence ever, to

         20   your knowledge, present their business model on

         21   the selling of the Matrix box and

         22   telecommunications services to Partners Equity?

         23        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.

         24   BY THE WITNESS:

         25        A.    Would you repeat the question?
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          1   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          2        Q.    Did NorVergence ever make a business

          3   presentation on their business to Partners Equity?

          4        A.    They made a business presentation to

          5   us.  But if you can define business presentation.

          6        Q.    Well, any kind of presentation.

          7        A.    There was a presentation on just the

          8   future of the company, how they were set up, how a

          9   transaction would flow through on their end and

         10   how it would be referred to us.

         11        Q.    Did they ‑‑ well, first of all, when

         12   did that happen?  When was the first time that

         13   ever happened?

         14        A.    That would have happened approximately

         15   May 2003.

         16        Q.    And was this a meeting between certain

         17   people at Partners Equity and NorVergence?

         18        A.    Yes.

         19        Q.    Well, who was there?

         20        A.    I don't remember.

         21        Q.    Do you remember approximately how many

         22   people were there?

         23        A.    Two, three from Partners Equity.

         24        Q.    How many from NorVergence?

         25        A.    I don't know.  I was not at the
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          1   meeting.

          2        Q.    How do you know there were two or three

          3   Partners Equity people there?

          4        A.    From my understanding, it would be our

          5   sales ‑‑ some sales representatives from our

          6   company.

          7        Q.    How do you know this?

          8        A.    Because I know who would have handled

          9   the program.

         10        Q.    I mean, how did you become aware there

         11   was a meeting and someone from Partners Equity

         12   attended?

         13        A.    In our normal course of business, when

         14   we're entertaining doing business with a vendor,

         15   there will be discussions with the vendor from our

         16   respective sales representatives.

         17        Q.    Well, my question is, how do you know

         18   there was a meeting with NorVergence and that

         19   certain people from Partners Equity attended?

         20        A.    I just heard that there was going to be

         21   a meeting with them.

         22        Q.    Who did you hear it from?

         23        A.    Bill McCormick.  He was the program

         24   manager.

         25        Q.    Did you hear it from anyone else?
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          1        A.    No.

          2        Q.    Were you ever informed as what took

          3   place at that meeting?

          4        A.    No.

          5        Q.    Now, before you told me that certain

          6   things would happen at a presentation by a leasing

          7   vendor.  Is that based your general knowledge?

          8        A.    General knowledge.

          9        Q.    It's not based on what actually

         10   happened at this meeting between Partners Equity

         11   and NorVergence?

         12        A.    Can you repeat that question?

         13        Q.    You were not telling me what happened

         14   at this meeting between NorVergence and Partners

         15   Equity?

         16        A.    Correct.

         17        Q.    You don't know what happened at that

         18   meeting?

         19        A.    Do not know what happened at that

         20   meeting.

         21        Q.    Do you know if there were any other

         22   meetings with NorVergence about their business

         23   policies and practices at any time?

         24        MR. BLUM:  Object to form.

         25   BY THE WITNESS:
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          1        A.    When you say at any time, can you

          2   define the time?

          3   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          4        Q.    After this meeting in May 2003.

          5        A.    Is your question whether additional

          6   meetings with NorVergence over the course of

          7   business with doing business with them?

          8        Q.    Correct.

          9        A.    Yes, there were.

         10        Q.    Tell me about what kinds of meetings

         11   you had.

         12        A.    Are you asking about Partners Equity or

         13   just me specifically?

         14        Q.    I'm talking about Partners Equity and

         15   NorVergence to the extent you have knowledge.

         16        A.    There could be periodic reviews of how

         17   the business was doing.  And that's our standard

         18   practice for all vendor relationships.

         19        Q.    What happens in a periodic review?

         20        A.    We will go up and discuss how much

         21   business is coming through, how many applications,

         22   what are the approvals, what are the booking

         23   percentages.

         24        Q.    And those reviews are done by whom?

         25        A.    Normally done by the program manager.
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          1        Q.    Is that Bill McCormick?

          2        A.    Yes.

          3        Q.    And anyone else?

          4        A.    Sometimes there can be representatives

          5   of the company at these meetings, also.

          6        Q.    Do you know if periodic reviews ever

          7   took place with regard to NorVergence?

          8        A.    Yes, they did.

          9        Q.    Do you know how many would take place

         10   in, let's say, a year's time?

         11        A.    Do not know.

         12        Q.    Do you have any idea?

         13        A.    No.

         14        Q.    More than three or four?

         15        A.    Several.  I ‑‑

         16        Q.    What other kinds of meetings would you

         17   have with NorVergence?

         18        MR. BLUM:  Object to the form.

         19   BY THE WITNESS:

         20        A.    Can you repeat the question?

         21   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         22        Q.    What other kinds of meetings would you

         23   have with NorVergence other than periodic reviews?

         24        MR. BLUM:  Object to form.

         25   
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          1   BY THE WITNESS:

          2        A.    They would be primarily the major

          3   meetings that we would have.

          4   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          5        Q.    Tell me what they are.  Do you know

          6   what kinds of meetings they were?

          7        A.    If you were looking to set up separate

          8   programs or special programs with a respective

          9   vendor, you would have them.

         10        Q.    I'm talking just about NorVergence,

         11   just NorVergence.  Were there other meetings that

         12   you're aware of other than periodic reviews with

         13   NorVergence?

         14        A.    There was one meeting I was aware of

         15   that I attended.

         16        Q.    What was that?

         17        A.    It was a meeting to review the approval

         18   ratios because we were not pleased at all with the

         19   conversion ratios of the program.  It was not a

         20   normal quarterly review.

         21        Q.    When did that happen?

         22        A.    October 2003.

         23        Q.    Who was there?

         24        A.    Myself, Bill McCormick, Lamont Melton.

         25        Q.    Anybody from NorVergence?
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          1        A.    Yes.

          2        Q.    Who was that?

          3        A.    Bob Wizeman, Bob Fine, Ed ‑‑ I'm

          4   drawing a blank on his last name ‑‑ and

          5   Pete Buschemi.

          6        Q.    Now, explain to me what the conversion

          7   rate issue was.  And, you know, tell me about the

          8   issues at this meeting.  What was discussed

          9   exactly?

         10        A.    At this meeting, we discussed that we

         11   were getting a lot of applications that we were

         12   declining because of creditworthiness.  We incur a

         13   cost every time we review an application.  That

         14   is, money out the door if we do not approve it and

         15   then book that transaction.  So it's an

         16   inefficient setup for us at that standpoint.  So

         17   we talked to them about making sure that they're

         18   screening their customers; that they do some type

         19   of screening before they send an application to

         20   us.  And then once we approve the transaction,

         21   then we make sure we book it.

         22        Q.    Now, when you're talking about

         23   screening customers, what does that mean?

         24        A.    Don't know.

         25        Q.    Is this a Partners Equity term?
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          1        A.    Yes.  We explain what our credit

          2   criteria is to our vendor relationships and what

          3   we will most likely approve.

          4        Q.    So you were talking to NorVergence

          5   about how they screened customers; correct?

          6        A.    Yes.

          7        Q.    And that you wanted NorVergence to meet

          8   certain Partners Equity criteria; correct?

          9        A.    Yes.

         10        Q.    Do you know what that criteria was?

         11        A.    We gave them an understanding, like a

         12   Dunn & Bradstreet report, would be a Paydex of 80.

         13        Q.    Fill me in on that.  I'm not sure what

         14   that is.

         15        A.    It's a score off of a Dunn & Bradstreet

         16   report that assesses the payment history of a

         17   respective customer.  And if I could clarify, the

         18   number was 60, not 80.  The base was 60.  Paydex

         19   of 60.

         20        Q.    And then you said once approved, to

         21   book it.  What does book it mean?  Is that what

         22   Partners Equity was doing?

         23        A.    Yeah.  We book and fund the

         24   transaction.  If we approve the transaction, we

         25   measure all our respective vendors and their
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          1   booking conversion ratio, funding conversion

          2   ratio.

          3        Q.    What's the funding conversion ratio?

          4        A.    Okay.  It is ‑‑ there's an approval

          5   conversion ratio and a ‑‑ well, a conversion ‑‑

          6   funding conversion ratio.

          7        Q.    Okay.

          8        A.    Your approval ratios, number of aps you

          9   receive and number of aps you approve.  Then you

         10   measure of what you approve how many did you

         11   eventually do as a lease and fund the transaction.

         12   In our vendor relations, there are times when we

         13   approve a transaction, but never end up funding

         14   the transaction.

         15        Q.    Why is that?

         16        A.    Numerous reasons.

         17        Q.    Tell me what those are.

         18        A.    The customer may have decided not to do

         19   the transaction.  The customer may have taken the

         20   transaction somewhere else.  At that point, we

         21   don't control that.  We just wait for it to

         22   happen.  We're not involved in that process.

         23        Q.    What you're telling me is that the

         24   reasons would be something not under the control

         25   of Partners Equity, but the customer, the vendor?
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          1        A.    Yes.

          2        Q.    Now, what was the response, if you can

          3   remember, by NorVergence at this review approval

          4   meeting after you laid out, you know, your

          5   screening of customers, the criteria, the ratios

          6   that Partners Equity wanted?  What was the

          7   response of NorVergence?

          8        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.  You can

          9   answer.

         10   BY THE WITNESS:

         11        A.    Can you repeat the question?

         12   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         13        Q.    Sure.  What was the response of

         14   NorVergence at this meeting after Partners Equity

         15   laid out what they wanted in terms of criteria?

         16        A.    Their response was that they would

         17   screen their customers, they would look at the

         18   Dunn & Bradstreet or Paydex of at least 60, and

         19   they would try to ‑‑ once approved, they would try

         20   to close the transaction.

         21        Q.    Did that issue about, if you will, poor

         22   screening by NorVergence change after that

         23   meeting?

         24        A.    Yes.  We saw our approval ratios

         25   increase.
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          1        Q.    All right.  We've been going through

          2   different meetings with NorVergence since having

          3   the relationship with NorVergence and Partners

          4   Equity.  We've talked about periodic reviews, we

          5   talked about this review approval meeting in

          6   October 2003.  Are there any other meetings that

          7   you can remember between NorVergence and Partners

          8   Equity?

          9        A.    No.

         10        Q.    Do you know if there are documents that

         11   exist that reflect these meetings, periodic

         12   reviews and the review approval meeting in October

         13   2003?

         14        A.    I can only speak to the one that I

         15   attended.

         16        Q.    Go ahead.

         17        A.    There is a document with regard to the

         18   meeting we attended in October.

         19        Q.    Is it referred to as the minutes or is

         20   it referred to as something else?

         21        A.    I can't remember what we called it.

         22        Q.    Do you have a copy of that document?

         23        A.    I'd have to check to see.  I can't

         24   remember if I have it with me.

         25        Q.    That's fine.  What I'd like to do at
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          1   this point is ‑‑ well, strike that.

          2              Is Partners Equity, as far as you know,

          3   a ‑‑ chartered as a bank?

          4        A.    Not a bank.

          5        Q.    And so you are not doing any kind of

          6   banking business?

          7        MR. CULPEPPER:  Object to the form.

          8   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          9        Q.    You're not doing any ‑‑ strike that.

         10   Never mind.

         11              What do you call the contract or the

         12   agreement between NorVergence and Partners Equity?

         13        A.    Program agreement.

         14        Q.    Are there any other contracts or

         15   agreements other than the program agreement with

         16   NorVergence apart from Partners Equity?

         17        A.    I don't know.  Can I clarify the

         18   answer?

         19        MR. BLUM:  Sure.

         20   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         21        Q.    Sure.

         22        A.    Okay.  In some cases, we might do a

         23   preliminary agreement with a respective vendor

         24   called a letter of intent.  I can't recall if one

         25   was done here, but the program agreement
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          1   supersedes all previous agreements.

          2        Q.    On a daily basis, who at Partners

          3   Equity had the most contact with NorVergence?

          4        A.    Define most.

          5        Q.    I'm talking about any contact.  In

          6   other words, telephones, e‑mail, correspondence;

          7   anything.

          8        A.    There could be several people in

          9   contact with NorVergence.

         10        Q.    Who are those people?

         11        A.    Could have been Bill McCormick, the

         12   program manager; it could have been Lamont Melton,

         13   Rhonda, R‑H‑O‑N‑D‑A, Raster, R‑A‑S‑T‑E‑R, our

         14   manager of contract administration.

         15        Q.    Okay.

         16        A.    It could have been a collector or a

         17   collection manager.

         18        Q.    Who's the collection manager?

         19        A.    We had one involved in the process.

         20   She's no longer with the company.  Neither are no

         21   longer with the company.

         22        Q.    Do you remember their names?

         23        A.    Yes.  Katrina Johnson was the collector

         24   and Joe Lombardo was a vice president.

         25        Q.    Lombardo?
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          1        A.    L‑O‑M‑B‑A‑R‑D‑O.

          2        MR. BLUM:  What was the first name?

          3   BY THE WITNESS:

          4        A.    Joe.

          5   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          6        Q.    And who is Lamont Melton?

          7        A.    He's our vice president of credit.

          8        Q.    Now, do you know who these individuals

          9   had contact with at NorVergence?

         10        A.    It could vary.

         11        Q.    Can you remember and tell me what

         12   individuals at NorVergence?

         13        A.    It could have been Pete Buschemi.

         14        Q.    How do you spell that?

         15        A.    B‑U‑S‑C‑H‑E‑M‑I.

         16        Q.    Okay.

         17        A.    Ed Lucas.  I remember his last name.

         18   L‑U‑C‑A‑S. It could have been Bob Fine,

         19   Bob Wizeman.

         20        Q.    Let me go through.  Who is

         21   Pete Buschemi?  What's his title or ‑‑

         22        A.    I'm not sure.  I don't remember.

         23        Q.    What about Ed Lucas?

         24        A.    Ed Lucas was their credit manager.

         25        Q.    Bob Fine?
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          1        A.    I believe was their financial officer.

          2   I'm not sure of his title.

          3        Q.    And Bob Wizeman?

          4        A.    Same; financial officer of the company.

          5        Q.    Now, did you personally have contact on

          6   a ‑‑ did you have any contact with these people

          7   that you've mentioned at NorVergence from time to

          8   time?

          9        A.    Yes.

         10        Q.    Who did you have contact with mostly?

         11        A.    I could have or any of these

         12   individuals could have talked with any of these

         13   representatives at a given point in time.

         14        Q.    Okay.

         15        A.    If I could explain here.

         16        Q.    Sure.

         17        A.    In our leasing process, it's common to

         18   have several contacts throughout the vendor

         19   relationships to earn communication with.

         20        Q.    When you had contact with these

         21   individuals, what were the subject matters that

         22   you discussed?

         23        A.    I can't speak for all the other

         24   conversations, but for conversation, I might

         25   have ‑‑ it might have been that I take a call from
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          1   the customer and then questioned with regard to

          2   something that was going to NorVergence and then I

          3   would pass them back to them.

          4        Q.    Is that the only kinds of things you

          5   talked about was customer calls and ‑‑

          6        A.    There might have been several occasions

          7   that I had with Bob Fine and Bob Wizeman and

          8   Ed Lucas just about the approval and conversion

          9   ratios.

         10        Q.    Do you remember what the discussions

         11   about approval and conversion ratios were?

         12        A.    Just follow‑up our meeting from

         13   October, just how they were doing, how they were

         14   going.  I might have had ‑‑ if I could ‑‑ several

         15   conversations with Ed Lucas just with regard to

         16   customer complaints about the telephone service

         17   and the installations and just the follow up on

         18   the installations.

         19        Q.    Now, what I'd like to do is, I'd like

         20   you to start looking at some documents.  I'm going

         21   to show you what's been marked as Commerce

         22   Commercial Exhibit 1.  And it ranges from Bates

         23   No. 04186 through 04246.

         24        MR. CULPEPPER:  Are those your Bates stamp

         25   numbers?
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          1        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  They're not.  These are

          2   documents that were produced to the Attorney

          3   General's office in Florida.

          4        MR. BLUM:  Produced by whom?

          5        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  By Commerce, as my

          6   understanding.

          7        MR. CULPEPPER:  That would be during the

          8   subpoena ‑‑

          9        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Correct.

         10        MR. CULPEPPER ‑‑ phase?  I don't think the

         11   others are due until the 12th, if there are other

         12   documents.  Thanks.

         13        MR. TELLECHEA:  Has this document been marked

         14   for purposes of this deposition?

         15        MR. BLUM:  Yes.  He has it pre‑marked as

         16   Commerce 1.

         17        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Yes.

         18                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         19                tendered to the witness.)

         20   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         21        Q.    Have you had a chance to review that?

         22        A.    Yes.

         23        Q.    Have you ever seen that document

         24   before?

         25        A.    Yes, I have.
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          1        Q.    What is that?

          2        A.    This is a copy of the presentation that

          3   was given to us.

          4        Q.    By?

          5        A.    I'm not sure who gave it to us.

          6        Q.    A presentation by whom, though?

          7        A.    NorVergence.

          8        Q.    And was it ‑‑ the presentation made as

          9   reflected on the front page of this document?

         10        MR. BLUM:  Object to the form.  I'm not sure

         11   what you mean.

         12   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         13        Q.    Go ahead.

         14        A.    Can you repeat the question?

         15        Q.    Was the presentation, if you know, on

         16   the date that's reflected on the front page of

         17   this composite Exhibit 1?

         18        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.  You can

         19   answer.

         20   BY THE WITNESS:

         21        A.    I don't know.

         22   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         23        Q.    You were not at the presentation, this

         24   business plan presentation allegedly in March

         25   2003?
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          1        A.    No.

          2        MR. BLUM:  Object to form again.

          3   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          4        Q.    Do you know who was?

          5        A.    Not sure.

          6        Q.    Do you know if the presentation took

          7   place?

          8        A.    I don't know.

          9        Q.    You did indicate that you've seen this

         10   document before.

         11        A.    Yes.

         12        Q.    I'd like you to go to Bates No. 4193.

         13   And at the top, it says Manufacturing.  Are you

         14   familiar with what they're referring to about ‑‑

         15   in the middle of this page it says, "NorV's OEM

         16   Manufacturer."  Do you see that?  Are you familiar

         17   with that?

         18        A.    No.

         19        Q.    Do you know what that is referring to?

         20        A.    No.

         21        Q.    Do you know what this on the same page

         22   is being referred to as the Pitney Bowes Model?

         23        A.    No.

         24        Q.    Do you know who in Partners Equity

         25   would have the best knowledge about this document?
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          1        A.    No.

          2        Q.    Do you know anybody who would have

          3   knowledge about this document?

          4        A.    Bill McCormick.

          5        Q.    Do you know anything about

          6   NorVergence's relationship with Nortell?

          7        A.    No.

          8        Q.    Lucent?

          9        A.    No.

         10        Q.    AT&T?

         11        A.    No.

         12        Q.    Have you ever been involved in any kind

         13   of business presentation that involved the

         14   information that's contained in composite Exhibit

         15   1?

         16        A.    No.

         17        MR. BLUM:  Object to form.

         18   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         19        Q.    Okay.  Do you know what a Matrix box

         20   is?

         21        A.    I have seen a Matrix box.

         22        Q.    Do you know what that equipment does?

         23        A.    It was explained to us that it is part

         24   of the telephone system.

         25        Q.    That was explained by NorVergence?
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          1        A.    Yes.

          2        Q.    What else did they say about the Matrix

          3   box?

          4        A.    How it interacted with the business and

          5   the T‑1 lines and the voice and data technology.

          6        Q.    Did NorVergence ever refer to the box

          7   as some kind of router box?

          8        A.    Not that I'm aware of.

          9        Q.    Do you know what a router box is?

         10        A.    Yes.

         11        Q.    What is it?

         12        A.    A router box would be defined as many

         13   different tools.  It's a communications device

         14   which is an integral part of your telephone

         15   system.

         16        Q.    Is it an integral part?

         17        A.    To my knowledge, using the transfer of

         18   data and voice and firewall protection.

         19        Q.    How do you know about a router box?

         20   How did you come about that knowledge?

         21        A.    Because my position with the company, I

         22   also handle facilities.  So in setting up our

         23   telephone system, I was a part of the process.

         24        Q.    Now, do you have, based on your

         25   personal knowledge, any sense of what the Matrix
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          1   box is?  Is it a router box?

          2        A.    I don't know.

          3        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.

          4   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          5        Q.    Okay.

          6        MR. CULPEPPER:  Is your answer you don't

          7   know?

          8   BY THE WITNESS:

          9        A.    Yes.

         10        MR. CULPEPPER:  Thank you.

         11   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         12        Q.    Let me refer you to page 4196 of

         13   composite Exhibit 1.  And at the top there, it

         14   talks about two major forms of revenue.  Are you

         15   familiar with that at all?

         16        A.    Just to the point of selling Matrix

         17   units.

         18        Q.    Do you know what is referenced as

         19   "Reselling access facilities"?

         20        A.    No.

         21        Q.    Do you know why they're talking about

         22   two major forms of revenue?

         23        MR. BLUM:  Object to form.

         24   BY THE WITNESS:

         25        A.    No.
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          1   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          2        Q.    Let me refer you to the next page,

          3   which is 4197.  Are you familiar with, "Scales to

          4   159,289 List at maximum configuration"?

          5        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.

          6   BY THE WITNESS:

          7        A.    The only familiarity I would have would

          8   be that when we asked them about the Matrix box

          9   and their explanation of the technology and the

         10   cards that could drive the price into different

         11   directions.

         12   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         13        Q.    How is that?  What did they say?

         14        A.    Depending on how many lines and so

         15   forth and variations of the cards installed on the

         16   box.

         17        Q.    Could cause the price to change of the

         18   Matrix box?

         19        A.    That's why there could be variances in

         20   the cost of the box.

         21        Q.    Do you know what is meant here by this

         22   159,289 List?

         23        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.

         24   BY THE WITNESS:

         25        A.    I don't know.
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          1   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          2        Q.    Do you know if anybody at Partners

          3   Equity has knowledge about what that means?

          4        A.    Nobody would have knowledge.

          5        Q.    Why is that?

          6        A.    In a small‑ticket environment and a

          7   lease purchase product, we did not do extensive

          8   reviews of the collateral.  That was determined

          9   between the lessee and the vendor, not a source of

         10   repayment.

         11        Q.    Do you know what the purpose of

         12   Partners Equity's being at a business plan

         13   presentation was ‑‑

         14        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.

         15   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         16        Q.     ‑‑ with NorVergence?

         17        A.    Can you repeat the question?

         18        Q.    Do you know what the purpose of

         19   Partners Equity's being at a business plan

         20   presentation with NorVergence?

         21        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.

         22   BY THE WITNESS:

         23        A.    I don't know.

         24   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         25        Q.    Let me refer you to page 4198.  It's
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          1   titled "Reselling Access Facilities."  At the top

          2   of this page, it talks about resell a relationship

          3   with Qwest and AT&T.  Are you familiar with that?

          4        A.    I'm familiar with the respect that I

          5   know Qwest was one of their service providers.

          6        Q.    How do you know that?

          7        A.    I know that as in approximately June of

          8   2004, an issue rose at NorVergence that we found

          9   out that Qwest was one of their service providers.

         10   That's how I find out.

         11        Q.    Was that important to Partners Equity?

         12        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.  Was that what?

         13   Was ‑‑

         14        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  The fact that Qwest is

         15   somehow their service provider for NorVergence.

         16   BY THE WITNESS:

         17        A.    I'm not sure of your question.

         18   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         19        Q.    When you found out, that is, Partners

         20   Equity found out that Qwest was a service provider

         21   of NorVergence, did that have some significance to

         22   Partners Equity?

         23        A.    Yes.

         24        Q.    What was that?

         25        A.    The fact that if Qwest didn't keep up
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          1   the service to the respective customers it could

          2   have an impact on the leases.

          3        Q.    And how would it impact the leases?

          4        A.    From my understanding, certain things

          5   were done through Qwest that needed to be done.

          6        Q.    How would it impact the leases?  Would

          7   it be good, bad?

          8        A.    It would be ‑‑ my understanding is it

          9   could be bad.

         10        Q.    And why?

         11        A.    They would cut off certain services to

         12   the customers.

         13        Q.    And who would cut off the services?

         14        A.    (No response).

         15        Q.    Who would cut off the services?

         16        A.    Qwest would cut it off.

         17        Q.    Do you know if NorVergence could ever

         18   cut off provider services?

         19        A.    Do not know.

         20        Q.    Do you know if that ever happened?

         21        A.    Do not know.

         22        Q.    Same page here, 4198 talks about

         23   "Target of 40% margin."  Do you know what that is

         24   referring to?

         25        A.    No, I do not.
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          1        Q.    And dropping down to the last line

          2   there, it talks about service length with a

          3   carrier that is independent of NorVergence.  Do

          4   you know what that's referring to?

          5        A.    No, I do not.

          6        Q.    Do you know what access facility is?

          7        A.    No, I do not.

          8        Q.    Let me refer you to page 4202.  At the

          9   top it says, "NorVergence Corporate Info Available

         10   for Review."  And in the middle of this page it

         11   talks about a due diligence presentation December

         12   2002.  Do you know what that's referring to?

         13        A.    No, I do not.

         14        Q.    Do you know if there were any other ‑‑

         15   let me strike that.

         16              Do you know if there were any meetings,

         17   due diligence meetings between Partners Equity and

         18   NorVergence?

         19        A.    Yes.

         20        Q.    Were those meetings other than what you

         21   told me about ‑‑

         22        A.    Yes.

         23        Q.    ‑‑ previous?

         24              When is the first due diligence

         25   meeting?
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          1        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.  You can

          2   answer.

          3   BY THE WITNESS:

          4        A.    I would not call it a due diligence

          5   meeting.  We made a visit to NorVergence just to

          6   tour the facilities and meet the representatives

          7   of the company.

          8   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          9        Q.    When was that?

         10        A.    I don't remember the exact date.

         11        Q.    Do you know approximately when that

         12   was?

         13        A.    Approximately May 2003.

         14        Q.    Was this prior to Partners Equity

         15   making a final decision to partner up with

         16   NorVergence on the lease ‑‑

         17        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.

         18   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         19        Q.    ‑‑ servicing?

         20        A.    Repeat the question.

         21        Q.    Was this prior to Partners Equity

         22   finally deciding that they were going to partner

         23   up with NorVergence on the lease servicing?

         24        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.

         25   BY THE WITNESS:
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          1        A.    I'm not sure.

          2   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          3        Q.    All right.  Who toured the facilities?

          4        A.    Don Campbell, our chairman;

          5   Steve Grosso, our president; and myself, and I

          6   believe Lamont Melton.

          7        Q.    And who did you meet with, if anyone,

          8   at NorVergence?

          9        A.    We met with Ed Lucas, Bob Fine,

         10   Bob Wizeman, and briefly, Peter Salzano,

         11   introduced Peter Salzano.

         12        Q.    And who is Peter Salzano?

         13        A.    President NorVergence Leasing.

         14        Q.    And what was the purpose of touring the

         15   facilities and talking to NorVergence's

         16   representatives?

         17        A.    Just meeting the respective people and

         18   touring the facility, touring their marketing

         19   area, their HR area, the credit area.

         20        Q.    Was there some reason why you needed to

         21   do this, needed to go to their facilities and talk

         22   to these representatives?

         23        A.    In some cases, not all cases, it is the

         24   normal practice that we have in setting up the

         25   vendor relationship.  We don't do it with all
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          1   vendors, but we do it with our major vendor

          2   programs.

          3        Q.    Is this done before you actually enter

          4   into some kind of agreement or contract with a

          5   leasing vendor?

          6        A.    It can be done sometime before and

          7   sometimes right after.

          8        Q.    You don't recall whether this is before

          9   or after?

         10        A.    No, I do not.

         11        Q.    Do you recall any discussions at this

         12   time?

         13        A.    No, it was just preliminary tours.

         14   This is the respective area, this is what it does.

         15        Q.    Were there discussions about the Matrix

         16   equipment?

         17        A.    No.

         18        Q.    Were there discussions about the

         19   assignment of NorVergence leases to Partners

         20   Equity?

         21        A.    No.

         22        Q.    Were there ‑‑ now, you said that you

         23   don't view this as a due diligence meeting or you

         24   do?

         25        A.    I do not view this as a due diligence
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          1   meeting.

          2        Q.    Okay.  What is a due diligence meeting

          3   to you?

          4        A.    To me, a due diligence is if you're

          5   taking over a portfolio, you're analyzing specific

          6   transactions, you're getting into detailed

          7   processes of how the business is conducted.

          8        Q.    Would a due diligence meeting mean to

          9   you that it was done prior to entering any

         10   agreement or contract with a leasing company?

         11        A.    On the occasions where we do a full due

         12   diligence, it is done in conjunction with doing

         13   the agreement.

         14        Q.    When do you do a full due diligence?

         15        A.    Only on a special occasion.

         16        Q.    What's a special occasion?

         17        A.    Can I use an example?

         18        MR. BLUM:  Yes.

         19   BY THE WITNESS:

         20        A.    We're entering in an agreement with

         21   Harleysville (phonetic) National Bank where we're

         22   buying specific transactions from them and also

         23   doing servicing on their remaining leasing

         24   transactions.

         25              In that process, we'll go in and meet
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          1   with individuals and their respective areas for

          2   how they did business so that when we take it

          3   over, we can do it in conjunction with how they

          4   were servicing their customers.

          5   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          6        Q.    Is this back to you would do this in

          7   the context of a ‑‑ I think you referred to it as

          8   a full market value?  Is that ‑‑

          9        A.    No.

         10        Q.    Fair market value?

         11        A.    No, we would not do it.  A full due

         12   diligence was a very ‑‑ it's a very rare occasion

         13   for us to do a full due diligence.

         14        Q.    If you do not do a full due diligence

         15   before entering into a relationship with some

         16   business entity, what other kinds of due diligence

         17   reviews would you do?

         18        A.    In our normal process, we have a vendor

         19   qualification review and we have a small vendor

         20   program review.  The difference between the two is

         21   if we anticipate doing less than a million dollars

         22   a year in business, we'll do a small vendor

         23   review.  We will check ‑‑ do a Dunn & Bradstreet

         24   on the company, review it, make sure they're

         25   supported by the respective manufacturer of the
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          1   equipment.

          2              On the vendor qualification review, we

          3   will obtain information on the company, financial

          4   statements, we will review Dunn & Bradstreet, we

          5   will request references on the company.

          6        Q.    And where did NorVergence fall on these

          7   due diligence ‑‑

          8        A.    Vendor qualification review.

          9        Q.    Who did the vendor qualification review

         10   for NorVergence?

         11        MR. BLUM:  Object.  He's already answered

         12   these questions.

         13        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Well, just refresh my

         14   recollection.

         15   BY THE WITNESS:

         16        A.    Lamont Melton.

         17   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         18        Q.    Now, other than the touring of the

         19   facilities and talking to the representatives of

         20   NorVergence on or about May 2003, did you

         21   personally have ‑‑ go to NorVergence's facilities

         22   after that time?

         23        A.    The other time I went was in October

         24   2003.

         25        Q.    And why was that?
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          1        A.    That was in the meeting to discuss the

          2   conversion ratios.

          3        Q.    Do you know if there were any other

          4   meetings where partner ‑‑ Equity Partner people

          5   went to NorVergence facilities?

          6        MR. BLUM:  Partners Equity people.

          7   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          8        Q.    Yes.

          9        A.    I'm aware of one other meeting.  And

         10   that was in June of 2004.

         11        Q.    And what was that?

         12        A.    It was a meeting called by NorVergence

         13   with all their respective leasing companies.

         14        Q.    What other leasing companies were

         15   there?

         16        A.    Several companies, such as U.S. Bank

         17   and approximately, I think, 12 or 13 others that I

         18   can remember.

         19        Q.    I'm going to show you the caption of

         20   some litigation that was filed in Leon County,

         21   Florida against various leasing companies and ask

         22   you if there were representatives for all the

         23   different defendants that are named in this

         24   caption, State of Florida versus Commerce

         25   Commercial Leasing and other defendants.
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          1                (WHEREUPON, the document was

          2                tendered to the witness.)

          3   BY THE WITNESS:

          4        A.    What?

          5   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          6        Q.    That were at this meeting, had

          7   representatives at this meeting in June 2004.

          8        A.    The names that I could recognize off of

          9   this list is Wells Fargo, I believe Preferred

         10   Capital.  I'm not sure of the others.  I was not

         11   at that meeting.

         12        Q.    Do you remember any other leasing

         13   companies that attended this meeting in June 2004

         14   called by NorVergence?

         15        A.    That I remember were at this meeting?

         16        Q.    Correct.

         17        A.    I would not remember unless I went back

         18   and looked at the list of those who attended that

         19   meeting.

         20        Q.    Do you have documents that reflect this

         21   meeting?

         22        A.    Yes.

         23        Q.    What are those documents called?

         24        A.    I would call them the minutes to this

         25   respective meeting.
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          1        Q.    Now, do you recall who was there for

          2   NorVergence?

          3        MR. BLUM:  Object to form.  Go ahead.  You

          4   can answer.

          5   BY THE WITNESS:

          6        A.    I was not at the meeting, although what

          7   was told to me was it was Peter and Tom Salzano.

          8   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          9        Q.    Who is Tom Salzano?

         10        A.    It's my understanding Tom Salzano was a

         11   consultant to NorVergence; was identified at this

         12   time as a consultant to NorVergence.

         13        Q.    And he's related to Peter?

         14        A.    I believe it's his brother.

         15        Q.    Who told you about this meeting?

         16        A.    Individuals in my office.

         17        Q.    Could I get their names, please?

         18        A.    Sure.  Don Campbell, Steve Grosso,

         19   Lamont Milton.

         20        Q.    And were any of these individuals at

         21   that meeting?

         22        A.    Yes.

         23        Q.    All of them?

         24        A.    All of them.

         25        Q.    All right.  And what was told to you
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          1   that happened at this meeting?

          2        A.    There are a number of issues discussed

          3   at this meeting with regard to the NorVergence

          4   situation.

          5        Q.    Can you tell me what those were?

          6        A.    To my knowledge, references on the

          7   service issues that they were having, liquidity

          8   issues that they were having.

          9        Q.    What were the liquidity issues?

         10        A.    I can't remember in detail.

         11        Q.    What do you remember?  What can you

         12   remember?

         13        A.    Do you ‑‑

         14        MR. CULPEPPER:  He was not there, he said.

         15   So you're asking him ‑‑

         16        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  No, I'm asking him based

         17   on ‑‑

         18        MR. CULPEPPER:  So you're asking him to

         19   remember what was told to him; is that correct?

         20        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Correct.

         21   BY THE WITNESS:

         22        A.    What was told to me was those two

         23   issues.  What I'm aware of the meeting is what I

         24   can review from the minutes of the meeting.

         25   
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          1   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          2        Q.    What was told to you?  Do you remember

          3   anything about what the liquidity issues were

          4   specifically?

          5        A.    As them growing so fast that they had

          6   cash flow problems.

          7        Q.    Any other liquidity issues?

          8        A.    Not that I'm aware of.

          9        Q.    And what were the service issues again?

         10        A.    Service issues with respect to Qwest

         11   and cutting all service to customers.

         12        Q.    And why did Qwest cut off service?

         13        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.

         14   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         15        Q.    If you know.

         16        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form still.

         17   BY THE WITNESS:

         18        A.    From what I was told, because

         19   NorVergence was not paying their bill to Qwest.

         20   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         21        Q.    Do you know why NorVergence was not

         22   paying the bill to Qwest?

         23        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.

         24   BY THE WITNESS:

         25        A.    No.
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          1   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          2        Q.    Now, what did Mr. Campbell, Grosso and

          3   Milton have to say about this meeting other than

          4   what you just told me?

          5        A.    Didn't say anything else to me about

          6   this meeting other than that I could review the

          7   respective minutes of that meeting.

          8        Q.    What did Partners Equity do based on

          9   attending this meeting on June 2004?  Do you know?

         10        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.

         11   BY THE WITNESS:

         12        A.    There was an advisory leasing committee

         13   set up among the respective leasing companies.

         14   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         15        Q.    Advisory leasing ‑‑

         16        A.    Leasing advisory committee.

         17        Q.    Okay.

         18        A.    And I'm not sure of the word.  A

         19   leasing committee.  You can strike the advisory,

         20   because they weren't giving any advice to

         21   NorVergence, just set up to determine next steps.

         22        Q.    Who was on this committee?

         23        A.    Representatives from various leasing

         24   companies.

         25        Q.    Again, let me draw your attention again
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          1   to the pleadings that have been filed in Florida

          2   in Leon County by the Attorney General's office

          3   against various business entities who are

          4   defendants.  And this is Case No. 2004CA2515.

          5   Were any of those defendants on the committee?

          6        A.    Several of them are, yes.

          7        Q.    Tell me which ones.

          8        A.    Popular Leasing, IFC.  I'm not sure of

          9   the others.

         10        Q.    How many ‑‑ do you recall how many

         11   different leasing companies were part of this

         12   committee?

         13        A.    The number would vary from time to

         14   time.

         15        Q.    What's the number that you remember?

         16        A.    Approximately ten.

         17        Q.    Now, do you remember any of the

         18   individuals of the different leasing companies

         19   that were part of this committee?

         20        A.    No.  The only one I'm aware of on this

         21   committee was Don Campbell.

         22        Q.    And who is that?

         23        A.    He was our chairman of Partners Equity

         24   Capital.  Representatives from each company would

         25   vary from time to time.
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          1        Q.    Were you ever part of this committee

          2   personally?

          3        A.    I would participate in the phone calls

          4   and listen in on the telephone conversations,

          5   committee meetings.

          6        Q.    Now, tell me what happened at these

          7   committee meetings?

          8        MR. BLUM:  I want to make an objection just

          9   in general.  First, I know that the committee had

         10   counsel, and there was counsel on many of these

         11   phone calls, and I don't want you to reveal any of

         12   the conversations that involved counsel.

         13        THE WITNESS:  Okay.

         14   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         15        Q.    You can go ahead.

         16        A.    Can I answer that question, because

         17   counsel was involved in all these meetings?

         18        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Well, I think ‑‑ you're

         19   not instructing the witness not to answer any, are

         20   you?

         21        MR. BLUM:  I'm not sure exactly what all

         22   those were.  Let me talk to him for a second.

         23   Take a break.

         24                (WHEREUPON, a recess was had.)

         25        MR. BLUM:  Back on the record.
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          1              I am going to instruct the witness not

          2   to answer.  Counsel was involved with all those

          3   calls for the purpose of providing advice to this

          4   group.  And we assert the privilege.

          5              In speaking to the witness, I also

          6   learned that the minutes that were put together of

          7   the earlier June meeting that we spoke about were

          8   put together for the purpose of providing them to

          9   counsel as this process was beginning.  So

         10   although he's already spoken about it, we are

         11   going to assert the privilege on that document

         12   itself and its contents.

         13        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  If I could, just for the

         14   record, who was the counsel that was on the calls?

         15        MR. BLUM:  Peter Deeb, who is my partner.

         16        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  And that's with Frye

         17   Petrakis Deeb?  Deeb is Peter Deeb?

         18        MR. BLUM:  Yes, that is correct.

         19        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  And Peter Deeb was

         20   representing Partners Equity's interest at those

         21   meetings?

         22        MR. BLUM:  He was representing the interest

         23   of all the people who were on that committee, all

         24   the companies.  Yes, that committee was acting on

         25   behalf of all the leasing companies as a group.
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          1   So at that point, he was representing all the

          2   leasing companies that were involved.

          3   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          4        Q.    How many meetings did this leasing

          5   committee have?

          6        MR. BLUM:  Object to the form.  That you're

          7   aware of, you can tell him.

          8        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Yes.

          9   BY THE WITNESS:

         10        A.    I'm going to say at least ten meetings;

         11   ten.

         12   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         13        Q.    Do you know the time period during

         14   which these meetings occurred?

         15        A.    Almost to the point they were once a

         16   week.

         17        Q.    What I'm asking is, they started in, I

         18   think you said ‑‑ or maybe you didn't.  When did

         19   the first leasing committee meeting take place?

         20        A.    Would have been June 2004.

         21        Q.    From June 2004, what was the time

         22   period during which these ten or so meetings

         23   occurred?

         24        A.    Okay.  I'm going to clarify it's

         25   probably more than ten.  In the beginning, we
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          1   would have ‑‑ could have been every day or every

          2   other day for a given period of time and then they

          3   went to approximately once a week.

          4        Q.    Again, my question would be, however

          5   many meetings occurred of the leasing committee

          6   from June 2004 to today ‑‑ well, what was the time

          7   period in which these meetings occurred from

          8   June 2004 to when?

          9        A.    June 2004 to today.  They still exist

         10   today, taking place today.

         11        Q.    Can you tell me what the subject matter

         12   of these meetings were?

         13        MR. BLUM:  They were to obtain advice from

         14   counsel.

         15        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Okay.  About?

         16        MR. BLUM:  I'm not going to go any further

         17   than that.

         18        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  All right.  Let's move

         19   on.

         20   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         21        Q.    Now, we've gone through a number of

         22   different kinds of meetings that Partners Equity

         23   has been involved in with NorVergence.  The last

         24   meetings that we talked about were these leasing

         25   committee meetings.  Were there any other meetings
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          1   between Partners Equity and NorVergence that you

          2   haven't mentioned today?

          3        MR. BLUM:  Object to form.  You can answer.

          4   BY THE WITNESS:

          5        A.    Can you repeat the question?

          6   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          7        Q.    Are there any other meetings that you

          8   haven't mentioned today between Partners Equity

          9   and NorVergence?

         10        MR. BLUM:  Objection.

         11   BY THE WITNESS:

         12        A.    None that I'm aware of.

         13   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         14        Q.    Now, from the time period of June 2004

         15   to today, have there been any other meetings with

         16   Partners Equity and NorVergence other than the

         17   leasing committee meetings?

         18        MR. BLUM:  Object to form, because I don't

         19   think he ever said that NorVergence was at the

         20   leasing committee meetings, so ‑‑

         21        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Well, I'm ‑‑ all right.

         22   Fair enough.

         23   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         24        Q.    Was NorVergence involved in these

         25   leasing committee meetings?
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          1        A.    No.

          2        Q.    Were there any other meetings ‑‑ let me

          3   back up a second here.

          4              There was a meeting that we talked

          5   about that was in June 2004 other than the leasing

          6   committee meeting.  Is that true?

          7        A.    Repeat that question.

          8        Q.    There was a meeting, I think you

          9   referred to, I'm just trying to clarify this,

         10   between Partners Equity and NorVergence in

         11   June 2004, but not the leasing committee meeting.

         12        A.    The only meeting I'm aware of in

         13   June 2004 is this meeting.  I believe it was like

         14   June 23rd.

         15        Q.    All right.  So ‑‑

         16        A.    I'm not sure of the date, but in June.

         17   It might have been the 17th.

         18        Q.    You were telling me about a

         19   conversation that you had in June 2004 with

         20   Don Campbell, Steve Grosso and Mr. Melton, and you

         21   indicated that there were minutes of this meeting.

         22   Is that meeting different than this leasing

         23   committee meeting?

         24        A.    That was the first of this process.

         25        MR. BLUM:  First of all, I want to object to
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          1   the form because you said in your question he had

          2   the conversation with Don Campbell, which I don't

          3   think he ever said that, okay.  But other than

          4   that ‑‑

          5        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Well, I don't know how I

          6   said it.  But what I'm referring to is they had a

          7   conversation with these people about a June 2004

          8   meeting.

          9   BY THE WITNESS:

         10        A.    The conversation I had with

         11   Don Campbell and so forth was about this June 2004

         12   meeting.

         13   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         14        Q.    I'm going to give you what has been

         15   marked as composite Exhibit Commerce 3,

         16   and it's Bates numbered 4179 and 4180, and is

         17   entitled "Partners Equity Capital Company,

         18   Commerce Commercial Leasing, Florida NorVergence

         19   Accounts."

         20              I'll hand this to you and let you look

         21   at this.  When you're done reviewing it, just let

         22   me know.

         23                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         24                tendered to the witness.)

         25        MR. TELLECHEA:  While he's reviewing the

                                                                      104

          1   document, is there a Commerce 2?

          2        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  There ‑‑ yes.  Let me put

          3   on the record there are various pre‑marked

          4   exhibits, some of which I may not introduce.  So

          5   you may not get all of these exhibits.

          6        MR. TELLECHEA:  For purposes that we don't

          7   have gaps, should we mark this ‑‑ since this is

          8   going to be used in the deposition, should it be

          9   marked as an exhibit to the deposition?  Because

         10   otherwise, there's going to be an issue whenever

         11   we have a blank number.

         12        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  I'll tell you what, I'll

         13   just introduce all these exhibits, some of which

         14   are duplicates and other things, but that's fine.

         15        MR. TELLECHEA:  Okay.

         16        MR. BLUM:  He's had a chance to review it.

         17   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         18        Q.    Are you familiar with this document?

         19        A.    Yes, I am.

         20        Q.    How is it you're familiar with it?

         21        A.    This is a document, a report that was

         22   applied in reply to the subpoena.  This is a

         23   document which we used to keep track of the leases

         24   and the status of the leases in the State of

         25   Florida.
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          1        Q.    And who prepared this document?

          2        A.    We at PECC prepared this document.

          3        Q.    Who at Partners Equity?

          4        A.    Reza, R‑E‑Z‑A, Saffarian,

          5   S‑A‑F‑F‑A‑R‑I‑A‑N.

          6        Q.    And what's her position there?

          7        A.    Reza's position is our vice president

          8   of asset management.  And he just primarily keeps

          9   the database on this in conjunction with our

         10   inside counsel, conferring counsel.

         11        Q.    Do you know what the time period is for

         12   this particular document?

         13        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.  Do you mean

         14   the date it was put together?

         15        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Well, the information

         16   that is reflected here has, as far as I can tell,

         17   no date reference.

         18   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         19        Q.    Do you know in terms of the information

         20   that's in this document what the time period is?

         21        MR. BLUM:  The date it was printed.

         22   BY THE WITNESS:

         23        A.    The date it was printed, but no, I'm

         24   not sure.

         25   
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          1   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          2        Q.    And the date it was printed is?

          3        A.    Bottom right‑hand corner.

          4        Q.    So January 2004?

          5        A.    Hm‑hmm.  Yes.

          6        Q.    Now, at the top of one of these

          7   headings on the first page there towards the

          8   right‑hand side, it refers to Value of Collateral.

          9   Do you see that?

         10        A.    Yes.

         11        Q.    Do you know what that means?

         12        A.    That value of the collateral will match

         13   the same as the amount we paid to NorVergence,

         14   which is just another column just to the left of

         15   that.

         16        Q.    Do you know why you have a column Value

         17   of Collateral which is ‑‑ well, let me ask you.

         18   Is the value of collateral identical to the amount

         19   paid to NorVergence?

         20        A.    Yes.

         21        Q.    Always?

         22        A.    Yes.

         23        Q.    Do you know ‑‑

         24        A.    Let me clarify that question, okay.

         25   For this particular report, yes.  If we have a
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          1   fair market value transaction in that column, we

          2   might put what the estimated fair market value is,

          3   but this is a lease purchase product.

          4        Q.    So in a lease purchase type

          5   transaction, the value of collateral is always the

          6   amount paid to the vendor?

          7        A.    Yes.  Again, in the small ticket

          8   environment, we're looking at the creditworthiness

          9   of the customer.  This is what we pay to

         10   NorVergence.  And the price was negotiated between

         11   the customer and NorVergence.

         12        Q.    And when it refers to collateral in

         13   that column, what collateral is that referring to?

         14        A.    The type ‑‑ are you referring to the

         15   Type of Collateral column?

         16        Q.    Yes.  As it relates to this specific

         17   form, which I guess is talking about NorVergence

         18   collateral; correct?

         19        A.    Yes.  This report was prepared to keep

         20   track of the NorVergence accounts.  It is not a

         21   standard report.  And in this type of collateral,

         22   Matrix is the equipment on the transaction.  And

         23   we simply group that into a telecom industry

         24   segment.

         25        Q.    What do you mean you ‑‑
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          1        A.    Not industry segment, type of equipment

          2   segment.

          3        Q.    Well, look to the left of the Value of

          4   Collateral column.  It says, Type of Collateral,

          5   Telecom‑Matrix; correct?

          6        A.    Correct.

          7        Q.    What does that mean, Telecom‑Matrix?

          8        A.    Just what I stated.  Matrix is the

          9   equipment description.  Telecom is the equipment

         10   category telecommunications.  Example ‑‑ another

         11   example would be in health care.  An MRI would be

         12   referred to as part of the medical business

         13   segment, medical equipment

         14        Q.    What is the ‑‑ towards the left at the

         15   top of this page, there's a column Gross RECV @

         16   Origination.  Do you see that?

         17        A.    Yes.

         18        Q.    What is that?

         19        A.    When we first put the transaction on

         20   the books, that is a total of the monthly payment

         21   times the term.

         22        Q.    So that includes something more than

         23   the amount paid to NorVergence; correct?

         24        A.    Correct.

         25        Q.    And what is the more?
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          1        A.    In a lease transaction, the respective

          2   cost of money for lending the money to the

          3   customer.

          4        Q.    Interest?

          5        A.    Yes.

          6        Q.    Anything other than interest in the ‑‑

          7   and the amount paid to NorVergence in the gross

          8   received origination?

          9        A.    (No response)

         10        Q.    Origination.  I'm sorry.  I can't speak

         11   today.  Gross Received @ Origination?

         12        A.    To make sure I understand your

         13   question, if I can repeat it, it is that what's

         14   the difference between the amount paid in that

         15   gross receivable is that interest only.

         16        Q.    It's only interest?

         17        A.    Hm‑hmm.

         18        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  I'm going to ‑‑ just for

         19   the record here, we've passed by Exhibit Commerce

         20   2, which is merely a cover page that appears to

         21   the document.  We can put this into the record.  I

         22   don't have any questions on that, though.

         23        MR. KATSAFANAS:  Is there a number on it?

         24        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Well, it's ‑‑ I don't see

         25   any ‑‑ well, I take that back.  It has Bates
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          1   NORV/FTC/PBN OOO2723.

          2              And the same would be true of Exhibit

          3   Commerce 4, which appears to be another cover page

          4   of some sort, which I don't have ‑‑ we're not

          5   going to be asking questions about today, and I

          6   don't ‑‑ on this one, I don't ‑‑ what it says is

          7   "Commerce Commercial Leasing Documents Produced

          8   9/21/2004 Bates Range 000001 through 000410."

          9              Now, we're at Exhibit Composite

         10   Commerce 5.  I'm going to show the witness this

         11   document and let him review it.  Let me know when

         12   you're finished reviewing it.

         13                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         14                tendered to the witness.)

         15        MR. KATSAFANAS:  Do you have a Bates number

         16   on No. 5?

         17        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Yes.  That range is from

         18   4252 to 4253.

         19   BY THE WITNESS:

         20        A.    I'm familiar with the document.

         21   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         22        Q.    Have you seen this document before?

         23        A.    Yes, I have.

         24        Q.    Do you know what this document is?

         25        A.    Yes.
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          1        Q.    What is it?

          2        A.    This is a vendor prospect profile which

          3   is a standard operating procedure for the review

          4   of our vendors.  It's completed by the respective

          5   program manager and supplied to us as part of our

          6   vendor qualification review.

          7        Q.    And this document is in reference to

          8   what vendor?

          9        A.    NorVergence.

         10        Q.    Do you know who created this document?

         11        A.    I believe Bill McCormick.

         12        Q.    Do you know who received this document?

         13        A.    We received it as part of our vendor

         14   qualification process.

         15        Q.    We?

         16        A.    Being our credit department.

         17        Q.    And you received it from whom?

         18        A.    Bill McCormick.

         19        Q.    Are you familiar with ‑‑ I'll be

         20   referring to this first bullet paragraph.  It

         21   talks about "through an OEM relationship."  Do you

         22   know what that is?

         23        A.    I'm not sure.

         24        Q.    At the bottom of this, it talks about

         25   program information.  And in the first bullet
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          1   point to that, it's referencing "DLL and CIT are

          2   incumbents."  Do you know what that means?

          3        A.    Yes.

          4        Q.    Tell me what that is.

          5        A.    My understanding, DLL stands for

          6   DeLageLanden.  CIT, our incumbent, is that they,

          7   to our understanding, had relationships with

          8   NorVergence for doing business with NorVergence.

          9        Q.    And what is DLL and CIT?

         10        A.    They are leasing companies.

         11        Q.    So does this mean that ‑‑ this document

         12   mean that DLL and CIT had a relationship with

         13   NorVergence prior to Equity Partners entering into

         14   a relationship with NorVergence?

         15        MR. BLUM:  Object to form.  You can answer.

         16   BY THE WITNESS:

         17        A.    To my understanding, yes, they were

         18   doing business with NorVergence.

         19   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         20        Q.    Do you know if Partners Equity had

         21   meetings with DLL and CIT prior to entering into

         22   any kind of a contract agreement with NorVergence?

         23        A.    I do not know.

         24        Q.    Now, at the bottom of what's Bates No.

         25   4252, there is a reference to a remarketing
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          1   agreement with Qwest and AT&T.  It's three bullets

          2   from the bottom.  Do you see that?

          3        A.    Yes, I do.

          4        Q.    Do you know what that's referring to?

          5        A.    No, I do not.

          6        Q.    Next page, 2453, it talks about

          7   equipment information.  And it's referring to

          8   Adtran, OEM telecommunications equipment.  Do you

          9   know what that is?

         10        A.    I believe in this case OEM stands for

         11   original equipment manufactured.

         12        Q.    And do you know what that line is

         13   referring to in terms of NorVergence?

         14        A.    That this was part of their system,

         15   what they used in their services with the

         16   customer.

         17        Q.    Do you know what the equipment is

         18   that's referred to there?

         19        A.    At this point, no.  Later, it became

         20   known as the Matrix system.

         21        Q.    And now the next line under that

         22   Equipment Information, there's a second bullet.

         23   It says, "Residual value:  A residual study needs

         24   to be completed."  Do you know what that is?

         25        A.    Yes, I do.
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          1        Q.    What is that?

          2        A.    In this case here, we were not sure,

          3   this is the beginning document ‑‑ this document is

          4   the beginning process in establishing a

          5   relationship with the vendor.  And this

          6   determination here could be we weren't sure if we

          7   were going to do fair market value business with

          8   them or lease purchase business.  Once we knew it

          9   was lease purchase, there was no need to do a

         10   residual value.  It's not a residual value.

         11        Q.    Do you know why it is Partners Equity

         12   decided to do this lease purchase arrangement

         13   rather than fair market value?

         14        MR. BLUM:  I'll object to the form.  You can

         15   answer.

         16   BY THE WITNESS:

         17        A.    Can you repeat that question?

         18   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         19        Q.    Do you know why Partners Equity decided

         20   to lease purchase rather than market value?

         21        MR. BLUM:  Object to form.

         22   BY THE WITNESS:

         23        A.    No.

         24   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         25        Q.    Do you know if anyone at Partners
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          1   Equity would know that; that is, why they decided

          2   to do a lease purchase rather than fair market

          3   value?

          4        MR. BLUM:  Same objection.

          5   BY THE WITNESS:

          6        A.    I will answer the question by saying

          7   that the vendor and the customer determines what

          8   product we're going to do, whether it be a lease

          9   purchase or a fair market value transaction.

         10   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         11        Q.    So this was a decision made by

         12   NorVergence?

         13        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.

         14   BY THE WITNESS:

         15        A.    That decision is made between a

         16   customer and a respective customer.

         17   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         18        Q.    Right.  To your knowledge, did

         19   NorVergence make the decision to do the lease

         20   purchase rather than the fair market value, if you

         21   know?

         22        A.    I don't know.

         23        MR. BLUM:  Objection.

         24   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         25        Q.    Now, when is a residual study needed
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          1   again?

          2        A.    A residual study is done when we're

          3   doing a fair market value transaction.

          4        Q.    And what is a residual study?

          5        A.    Okay.  That is where we will go in and

          6   analyze the equipment and determine the future

          7   value at the end of the term.  At the end of the

          8   term, the customer has options.

          9        Q.    What were the options?

         10        A.    In a fair market value, they could

         11   continue making the payments, they can buy the

         12   equipment at fair market value or they can return

         13   the equipment.

         14        Q.    Now, do you know whether a different

         15   amount would be paid by Partners Equity if it had

         16   entered into a fair market value agreement with

         17   NorVergence?

         18        MR. BLUM:  Object to form.

         19   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         20        Q.    Would a different amount be paid on a

         21   lease in a fair market value situation?

         22        MR. BLUM:  Object to form again.

         23   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         24        Q.    Versus a lease purchase?

         25        A.    Okay.  The amount paid on the equipment
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          1   is determined between the lessee and the

          2   customer ‑‑ rather, the vendor.  We're not

          3   involved in that process.  We're only paid what

          4   was shown as reflects on the invoice.  So that

          5   determination of cost is established by the

          6   customer and vendor.

          7        Q.    Does it matter to Partners Equity

          8   whether a vendor decides to do a fair market value

          9   arrangement or a lease purchase arrangement?

         10        A.    Repeat the question.

         11        Q.    Does it matter to Partners Equity at

         12   any time whether a vendor chooses to do fair

         13   market value or a lease purchase arrangement?

         14        A.    It doesn't matter to Partners Equity.

         15        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Off the record.

         16                (WHEREUPON, discussion was had

         17                off the record.)

         18                (WHEREUPON, the deposition was

         19                recessed until

         20                1:00 p.m., 1/6/05.)

         21   

         22   

         23   

         24   

         25   
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          1   IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL

          2     CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

          3   STATE OF FLORIDA, OFFICE OF   )

          4   THE ATTORNEY GENERAL,         )

          5   DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS,  )

          6            Plaintiff,           )

          7      vs.                        )No. 2004 CA 002515

          8   COMMERCE COMMERCIAL LEASING,  )THE DEPOSITION OF

          9   LLC, COURT SQUARE LEASING     )MARTIN F. BABICKI

         10   CORP., DOLPHIN CAPITAL CORP., )TAKEN ON 1/6/05

         11   IFC CREDIT CORP., NATIONAL    )

         12   CITY COMMERCIAL CAPITAL CORP.,)

         13   formerly known as, INFORMATION)

         14   LEASING CORP., IRWIN BUSINESS )

         15   FINANCE, LIBERTY BANK LEASING,)

         16   PATRIOT LEASING CO., INC.,    )

         17   POPULAR LEASING U.S.A., INC., )

         18   PREFERRED CAPITAL, LLC,       )

         19   STERLING NATIONAL BANK, and   )

         20   WELLS FARGO FINANCIAL LEASING,)

         21   INC.,                         )

         22            Defendants.

         23   

         24                JANUARY 6, 2005

         25                  1:00 P.M.
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          1            The deposition of MR. MARTIN F. BABICKI

          2   resumed pursuant to recess, 10th Floor, 155 North

          3   Wacker Drive, Chicago, Illinois.

          4   

          5   PRESENT:

          6      OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL,

          7      STATE OF FLORIDA,

          8      (The Capitol Suite, PL‑01,

          9      Tallahassee, Florida, 32399‑1050,

         10      850‑414‑3600), by:

         11      MR. KEITH P. VANDEN DOOREN,

         12      Assistant Attorney General ‑ Economic Crimes

         13      Division,

         14            appeared on behalf of the Plaintiff;

         15   

         16   

         17   

         18   

         19   

         20   

         21   

         22   

         23   

         24   

         25   
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          1   PRESENT:  (Continued)

          2      FREY, PETRAKIS, DEEB, BLUM, BRIGGS & MITTS,

          3      1601 Market Street, Suite 2600,

          4      Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103,

          5      215‑563‑0500), by:

          6      MR. JOSEPH H. BLUM,

          7            appeared on behalf of the Defendants

          8            Commerce Commercial Leasing, Dolphin

          9            Capital Corp., ILC, Irwin Business

         10            Finance, Liberty Bank, Popular Leasing

         11            U.S.A., Inc., Preferred Capital, LLC, and

         12            Sterling National Bank;

         13   

         14      AKERMAN SENTERFITT,

         15      (106 East College Avenue, Suite 1200,

         16      Post Office Box 1877 (32302‑1877),

         17      Tallahassee, Florida 32301),

         18      850‑224‑9634), by:

         19      MR. BRUCE CULPEPPER

         20            appeared on behalf of the Defendants

         21            Commerce Commercial Leasing, Dolphin

         22            Capital Corp., IFC Credit Corp., Irwin

         23            Business Finance, Liberty Bank, Popular

         24            Leasing U.S.A., Inc., Preferred Capital,

         25            LLC, and Sterling National Bank;
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          1   PRESENT:  (Continued)

          2      AKERMAN SENTERFITT,

          3      Citrus Center, 17th Floor,

          4      (255 South Orange Avenue,

          5      Post Office Box 231 (32802‑0231),

          6      Orlando, Florida 32801‑3843),

          7      407‑843‑7860), by:

          8      MR. ALBERT F. TELLECHEA and

          9      MR. VASILIS "BILL" KATSAFANAS,

         10            appeared on behalf of the Defendant

         11            Popular Leasing USA, Inc.;

         12   

         13   ALSO PRESENT:

         14      MS. ASHLEY DICKSON, LAW CLERK

         15   

         16   

         17   

         18   

         19   

         20   

         21   

         22   

         23   

         24   REPORTED BY:  ZONA B. MILLER, C.S.R.

         25   
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          1                MARTIN F. BABICKI,

          2   called as a witness herein, having been previously

          3   duly sworn and having testified, was examined and

          4   testified further as follows:

          5                EXAMINATION (Resumed)

          6   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          7        Q.    I think we left off on composite

          8   Exhibit No. 5.  And we're talking about the second

          9   page, which is 4253 Bates number, and the residual

         10   study.

         11              Tell me again, what's a residual study?

         12        A.    A residual study is performed when

         13   we're doing a lease, which is a fair market value

         14   lease at which a residual position will be taken

         15   by the leasing company on an estimation of the

         16   future value of the equipment at the end of the

         17   lease term.

         18              I'll use an example.  You could have a

         19   36‑month term, the payments could be a thousand

         20   each, and at the end of the lease, the leasing

         21   company may have made an estimate as to the value

         22   of that company, let's say 10 percent of the

         23   equipment of the company.

         24        MR. BLUM:  Not the company.  Of the

         25   equipment.
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          1   BY THE WITNESS:

          2        A.    Of the equipment.  Thank you.

          3   10 percent of the equipment cost.

          4   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          5        Q.    Say that again now.  Go through that

          6   example.  You got 36 months ‑‑ go through that

          7   example.

          8        A.    You could have 36 payments at a payment

          9   of a thousand dollars.  And I'm picking a thousand

         10   just out of the air.

         11        Q.    All right.

         12        A.    And the leasing company can take a

         13   residual position of 10 percent of the equipment

         14   cost.  And those percentages can vary by

         15   equipment, type of equipment.

         16        Q.    When you say residual position, what

         17   does that mean?

         18        A.    It's where you're taking 10 percent of

         19   the equipment cost and you're building that into

         20   the earnings of the lease.  So at the end of the

         21   lease, the customer makes 36 $1,000 payments.  The

         22   customer has to make a decision, continue making

         23   payments, buy the equipment at fair market value

         24   or return the equipment.

         25        Q.    Now, if the customer buys it, are you
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          1   saying ‑‑ I'm not quite sure where this residual

          2   position comes in ‑‑ are you saying that the

          3   customer would pay another ten percent of the cost

          4   of the equipment to buy it?

          5        A.    The customer would pay at that time

          6   what is determined between the two parties to be

          7   the fair market value of the equipment.

          8        Q.    Okay.  Who gets the 10 percent of the

          9   equipment?

         10        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.

         11   BY THE WITNESS:

         12        A.    Okay.

         13        MR. BLUM:  You can answer.

         14   BY THE WITNESS:

         15        A.    At the ‑‑ when they agree on a fair

         16   market value price the lessee pays the leasing

         17   company.

         18   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         19        Q.    And when is that paid?

         20        A.    At the end of the lease.

         21        Q.    And why does the lessee pay this

         22   ten percent at the end of the lease in addition to

         23   the 36,000 in our example?

         24        MR. BLUM:  I'm going to object.  Go ahead.

         25   
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          1   BY THE WITNESS:

          2        A.    The lessee can make that decision for

          3   numerous reasons why they want to do it.  For tax

          4   purposes, they may not need the equipment at that

          5   point in time.

          6   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          7        Q.    Do you know if there was some advantage

          8   to NorVergence in selecting the lease purchase

          9   option versus the fair market value?

         10        A.    No, I don't.

         11        Q.    Do you know, in general, why a business

         12   would pick one or the other?

         13        MR. BLUM:  Object to form.  Go ahead.

         14   BY THE WITNESS:

         15        A.    It is the lessee that chooses the form

         16   of what they want to do with regard to the

         17   product.

         18   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         19        Q.    I understand.  But do you know why they

         20   would pick one over the other?

         21        A.    It could be that they are ‑‑ just

         22   intend on using that equipment for a given period

         23   of time.  They may ‑‑ they might be doing it for

         24   tax reasons, because it's treated differently on

         25   the financial statements.  It could be numerous
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          1   reasons.  That is up to the lessee to make that

          2   decision.

          3        Q.    And why is it that Equity Partners ‑‑

          4   excuse me.

          5        MR. BLUM:  Partners Equity.

          6   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          7        Q.     ‑‑ Partners Equity ‑‑ strike that.

          8              How many lease purchase vendors do you

          9   have in your business makeup right now?  I'm

         10   talking Partners Equity.

         11        MR. BLUM:  Object to form.  You can answer.

         12   BY THE WITNESS:

         13        A.    Can you repeat the question?

         14   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         15        Q.    How many lease purchase type vendors

         16   does Partners Equity have today?

         17        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.  Go ahead.

         18   BY THE WITNESS:

         19        A.    The vendor doesn't make the decision

         20   whether or not it's a lease purchase ‑‑

         21   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         22        Q.    I understand that.

         23        A.    So you could have one vendor doing

         24   both.

         25        Q.    Do you have other vendors today, I'm
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          1   talking Partners Equity, that only use a lease

          2   purchase arrangement?

          3        A.    Can you repeat that question?

          4        Q.    Do you have other vendors other than

          5   NorVergence that use the lease purchase

          6   arrangement?

          7        A.    Yes.

          8        Q.    How many?

          9        A.    Could be all of our vendors used the

         10   lease purchase arrangement.

         11        Q.    Well, do you know?

         12        A.    I would say 90 ‑‑ approximately

         13   90 percent.

         14        MR. BLUM:  90 percent of the vendors?

         15   BY THE WITNESS:

         16        A.    Of the vendors.

         17              I want to clarify that answer.

         18        MR. BLUM:  Sure.

         19   BY THE WITNESS:

         20        A.    It's 90 percent of our customers.

         21   90 percent of our transactions are lease purchase

         22   transactions approximate.  The product lease

         23   purchase fair market value can be offered ‑‑ we

         24   offer that to every vendor.

         25   
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          1   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          2        Q.    Other than NorVergence, are there any

          3   other lease vendors that Partners Equity is

          4   dealing with that only do, only do lease purchase?

          5        A.    Yes.

          6        Q.    How many?

          7        A.    I don't know.

          8        Q.    Can you give me an approximation?

          9        A.    70 percent.

         10        Q.    All right.  I'm going to go back to the

         11   exhibits.  And we have a composite Exhibit

         12   Commerce 6, which we're not going to question

         13   because it appears to be a duplicate of Exhibit 1.

         14   But for the record, it would range from 4186 to

         15   4246.

         16        MR. BLUM:  The same numbers as 1?

         17        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Yes.  These are

         18   duplicate.

         19   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         20        Q.    That brings us to composite Commerce

         21   No. 7.  And I'm going to let you take a look at

         22   this if you would.  Let me know when you've

         23   finished.  And that is Bates 4248 through 4251.

         24                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         25                tendered to the witness.)
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          1   BY THE WITNESS:

          2        A.    I reviewed the document.

          3   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          4        Q.    Are you familiar with that document?

          5        A.    Yes, I am.

          6        Q.    Do you know who drafted or created this

          7   document?

          8        A.    Not sure.

          9        Q.    And how do you know about this

         10   document?

         11        A.    This document is part of our process,

         12   and it was signed by the vice president,

         13   Bill McCormick, and was part of the vendor file.

         14        Q.    The vendor file for NorVergence?

         15        A.    Yes.

         16        Q.    Now, is this a form that is used with

         17   regard to all lease vendors?

         18        A.    There are variations of this form that

         19   are used with vendors.

         20        Q.    Who determines for Partners Equity what

         21   the provisions in this form are?

         22        A.    At this point in time, when this

         23   document is determined by the program manager.

         24        Q.    And that's Mr. McCormick?

         25        A.    Yes.
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          1        Q.    Do you know what was done in

          2   preparation for creating this document?

          3        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.

          4   BY THE WITNESS:

          5        A.    No, I don't.

          6   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          7        Q.    All right.  Let me show you ‑‑ it's

          8   actually page 1 of the document, but it's Bates

          9   No. 4249.  And Roman numeral II deals with Program

         10   Structure.  Can you tell me what that provision

         11   means?

         12        A.    This provision in this document is

         13   outlining what could be the volume projections

         14   done on this particular program between Partners

         15   Equity and NorVergence.

         16        Q.    Now, in this Roman numeral II

         17   provision, it is referring to, in the first line

         18   there, that CCL will be entering into leases

         19   directly with NorVergence's end user customers.

         20   Do you know what that's referring to?

         21        A.    No, I do not.  May I make a comment?

         22        MR. BLUM:  Sure.

         23   BY THE WITNESS:

         24        A.    Okay.  This proposal letter is done in

         25   our normal process in the beginning of discussions
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          1   with the customer, with the potential vendor.  It

          2   outlines parameters of how the program could work.

          3   It's not the definitive document.  This document

          4   then leads to the vendor qualification review

          5   process and then the program agreement.  As I

          6   mentioned earlier, the program agreement

          7   supersedes all previous agreements.

          8   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          9        Q.    Well, again, do you know why it is that

         10   there was contemplated by Partners Equity that

         11   somehow CCL will be entering into leases directly

         12   with NorVergence's end user customers?

         13        A.    Can you repeat that question?

         14        Q.    Sure.  I'm looking again at Roman

         15   numeral 2 there.  And I'm just wondering if you

         16   know why Partners Equity would contemplate this

         17   provision at all.

         18        A.    No, I do not.

         19        Q.    Do you know what it means, what they're

         20   referring to, in terms of entering into leases

         21   directly with NorVergence's end user customers?

         22        A.    Yes, I do.

         23        Q.    What does that mean?

         24        A.    In certain cases, of which we do not

         25   do, we view ourselves as an indirect leasing
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          1   company, there are certain leasing companies out

          2   there that will go directly to the customer for

          3   the business.

          4              At Partners Equity Capital, we do it on

          5   an indirect business, establish a vendor

          6   relationship and then doing leasings with the

          7   customers that have been referred to us through

          8   the vendor process.

          9        Q.    Well, I'm confused.  Maybe you could

         10   help me here.  You're saying that Partners Equity

         11   is an indirect leasing company?

         12        A.    Yes.  We do transactions on an indirect

         13   basis.

         14        Q.    Why would you have a provision like

         15   Roman numeral II in any kind of document proposal

         16   with NorVergence?

         17        A.    I don't know.

         18        MR. BLUM:  He already answered that.

         19        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  I just want to make sure.

         20   BY THE WITNESS:

         21        A.    Do not know.

         22   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         23        Q.    Other than Mr. McCormick, did anyone

         24   else at Partners Equity have any ‑‑ that you know,

         25   have anything to do with this ‑‑ creating this
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          1   document, composite No. 7?

          2        A.    Do not know.

          3        Q.    Let's move down to Roman numeral V,

          4   which is still on this page 4249.  It indicates

          5   that Commerce Commercial Leasing is the lessor; is

          6   that correct?

          7        A.    That's what it states in this document.

          8        Q.    Is that the typical business model for

          9   Partners Equity?

         10        A.    Yes.

         11        Q.    And they're the lessor of what?

         12        A.    Of the equipment.

         13        Q.    Of the Matrix box?

         14        A.    Are you talking just for the

         15   NorVergence?

         16        Q.    For NorVergence.

         17        A.    Yes.

         18        Q.    Now, go down to Roman numeral VI.  It

         19   talks about the lessee.  And it says, "As

         20   determined by NorVergence and Commerce Commercial

         21   Leasing."  How would that work?

         22        A.    NorVergence goes out, entertains doing

         23   business with a potential lessee.  They review the

         24   equipment, what their needs are of the customer.

         25   The customer makes the decision of what their
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          1   equipment need is, what they're willing to pay for

          2   that equipment.  They finalize a transaction with

          3   NorVergence, agree on the price, and then a credit

          4   application is submitted to Commerce Commercial

          5   Leasing/Partners Equity Capital.  We then make the

          6   decision whether or not to approve that

          7   transaction from a creditworthiness standpoint.

          8        Q.    So it's just a matter of whether you're

          9   doing business in terms of Roman numeral VI?

         10        A.    As I stated earlier, we have nothing to

         11   do with the up‑front process.

         12        Q.    There is no ‑‑ you know of no other way

         13   that you would be doing business with NorVergence

         14   where there ‑‑ strike that.  Never mind.  Strike

         15   that.

         16              All right.  Let's go down to Roman

         17   numeral VII, which is the lease agreements

         18   provision.  And it says that the, "Lease rental

         19   documents will be in NorVergence's name."  Do you

         20   see that?

         21        A.    Yes, I do.

         22        Q.    Now, if above it says that CCL is the

         23   lessor, is there some reason why it would be in

         24   NorVergence's name in terms of the lease rental

         25   agreement?

                                                                      135

          1        A.    If I may state, this is a preliminary

          2   proposal, which is in the formulation stages of

          3   the relationship.  So this ‑‑ nothing is final at

          4   this point.  Through the program agreement, okay,

          5   NorVergence is the lessor on the contracts, is on

          6   the contracts, and they assign those rights to us

          7   via the program agreement.  This is after the

          8   documentation and the transaction is commenced

          9   with the customer.

         10        Q.    And also Exhibit Commerce Exhibit 8,

         11   have you seen this document before?  This is Bates

         12   No. 4185.

         13                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         14                tendered to the witness.)

         15   BY THE WITNESS:

         16        A.    I reviewed this document.  I'm familiar

         17   with this document.

         18   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         19        Q.    What is that for?

         20        A.    This was supplied to us by NorVergence,

         21   thus representing they were never an

         22   enterprise exempt purchase organization.

         23        Q.    And then I'll show you what has been

         24   marked composite Commerce No. 9.  This is Bates

         25   number 4183 and 4184.
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          1                (WHEREUPON, the document was

          2                tendered to the witness.)

          3   BY THE WITNESS:

          4        A.    I've reviewed the document.

          5   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          6        Q.    Have you seen this document before?

          7        A.    Yes.

          8        Q.    Do you know where this document came

          9   from?

         10        A.    No, I do not.

         11        Q.    Do you know who created the document?

         12        A.    No, I do not.

         13        Q.    At the top of this document 4183, it

         14   refers to "Merged Access Transport Intelligent

         15   RX."  Have you heard that term before?

         16        A.    No, I have not.

         17        Q.    I'm going to let you look at Exhibit

         18   Commerce 10.  And this is 4181 Bates number.

         19                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         20                tendered to the witness.)

         21   BY THE WITNESS:

         22        A.    I reviewed the document.

         23   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         24        Q.    Have you seen this document before?

         25        A.    Yes, I have.
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          1        Q.    Did you know who created this document?

          2        A.    No, I do not.

          3        Q.    How did you first come to see this

          4   document?

          5        A.    This document is in our vendor file,

          6   part of our vendor file.

          7        Q.    For NorVergence?

          8        A.    Yes.

          9        Q.    You see at the top there it refers to

         10   Matrix‑2001, and over on the right‑hand side under

         11   MSRP it says 29,999?

         12        A.    I see it.

         13        Q.    What does that refer to?

         14        MR. BLUM:  I object to form.  You can answer.

         15   BY THE WITNESS:

         16        A.    I do not know.

         17   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         18        Q.    Do you have any idea what ‑‑ strike

         19   that.

         20              Do you know what the MSRP numbers are

         21   referring to on the right side of this document?

         22        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.

         23   BY THE WITNESS:

         24        A.    No, I do not.  This ‑‑

         25   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:
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          1        Q.    Go ahead.

          2        A.    For all I know, may have been

          3   information to the customer and the customer makes

          4   the decision with NorVergence.

          5        Q.    Why is this in this file?

          6        A.    It may have been one time supplied to

          7   us, but who and who created this, I don't know.

          8        Q.    Is this something that Partners Equity

          9   requires from its vendors?

         10        A.    No, it's not a requirement.  We will

         11   obtain this information on fair market value

         12   transactions if we were analyzing the equipment.

         13        Q.    Are there a lot of documents required

         14   under fair market value transactions in the

         15   NorVergence file?

         16        A.    Repeat the question.

         17        Q.    Are there a ‑‑ how many fair market

         18   value documents are contained in the NorVergence

         19   vendor file?

         20        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.

         21   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         22        Q.    If you know.

         23        A.    I don't know.  Let me clarify that.  In

         24   the question you said fair market value documents.

         25   This is not a fair market value transaction, so we
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          1   wouldn't have required it.

          2        Q.    And as I understood your testimony

          3   before, this Commerce 10 exhibit is something that

          4   would be required in a fair market value

          5   situation; is that correct?

          6        A.    Not necessarily our pricing list.

          7   Let's define what is required.  When we do an

          8   internal study in fair market value position, we

          9   obtain information about the equipment.  We also

         10   check the industry.  And there's a whole list of

         11   parameters we review, from government regulations

         12   to economic conditions to third‑party use of the

         13   equipment, et cetera, in our study before we

         14   establish that position.  We did not need to go

         15   through that process for this.  It was a lease

         16   purchase product.

         17        Q.    But yet we have Exhibit Commerce 10

         18   that's in the NorVergence file; correct?

         19        A.    Correct.

         20        Q.    And you don't know why that was done?

         21        A.    No.

         22        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.

         23   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         24        Q.    We have marked Exhibit Commerce 11,

         25   which is 4182, which ‑‑ let me have you take a
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          1   look at that.

          2                (WHEREUPON, the document was

          3                tendered to the witness.)

          4                (WHEREUPON, discussion was had

          5                off the record.

          6   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          7        Q.    Is that document the same document as

          8   Commerce 10?

          9        A.    No, it is not.

         10        Q.    What's this document, Commerce 11?

         11        A.    This document sometimes is applied with

         12   the lease documentation to commence a transaction.

         13   It is not a requirement of our documentation.

         14   This is a document that was reviewed apparently

         15   between NorVergence and the customer.

         16        Q.    Is this a document that Partners Equity

         17   would require in a fair market value situation?

         18        A.    No.

         19        Q.    Let me show you what's been marked

         20   Commerce 12, which is Bates No. 4258.

         21                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         22                tendered to the witness.)

         23   BY THE WITNESS:

         24        A.    I reviewed the document.

         25   
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          1   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          2        Q.    Are you familiar with this document?

          3        A.    Yes, I am.

          4        Q.    Do you know who created this document?

          5        MR. BLUM:  It's ‑‑ you mean who created the

          6   form?

          7        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  No.

          8   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          9        Q.    Who created Exhibit Commerce 12?  Do

         10   you know?

         11        A.    I ‑‑

         12        MR. BLUM:  I object to form again.

         13   BY THE WITNESS:

         14        A.    I'm not sure of the question.

         15   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         16        Q.    Did you know who created, that is,

         17   wrote the information, created this form Exhibit

         18   Commerce 12?

         19        A.    The only comment I can make, it was

         20   apparently signed by Robert Wizeman, the vice

         21   president of NorVergence.

         22        Q.    What's this document for, do you know?

         23        A.    The document is a lease application

         24   completed by NorVergence.

         25        Q.    A lease application for NorVergence to
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          1   start a business relationship with Partners

          2   Equity?

          3        A.    We have one of these signed with new

          4   vendors, a completed application, and we also had

          5   this completed because we did one transaction with

          6   NorVergence itself.

          7        Q.    What do you mean you did one

          8   transaction?

          9        A.    We had a lease done with NorVergence.

         10        Q.    What lease was that?

         11        A.    One transaction is for $177,000,

         12   approximate, on telecommunication

         13   interconferencing equipment, teleconferencing

         14   equipment.

         15        Q.    Now, was that a direct ‑‑ was that a

         16   lease?

         17        A.    That was a lease.

         18        Q.    Was that a direct lease situation

         19   between NorVergence and Partners Equity?

         20        A.    Yes.

         21        Q.    Were there other ones?

         22        A.    Just one.

         23        Q.    Who was the guarantor on this?

         24        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.

         25   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:
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          1        Q.    Do you know?

          2        A.    We have no guarantors ‑‑

          3        Q.    What was the collateral for this?

          4        A.    Interconferencing equipment,

          5   teleconferencing equipment.

          6        Q.    Did Partners Equity have ‑‑ file a lien

          7   on this property?

          8        A.    Yes, we did.

          9        Q.    Did NorVergence satisfy their agreement

         10   in all records on this particular lease?

         11        A.    They did up until they filed

         12   bankruptcy.

         13        Q.    And how much was outstanding when they

         14   filed bankruptcy?

         15        A.    I do not know ‑‑ or do not remember.

         16        Q.    I'm going to hand you what's been

         17   marked composite Exhibit Commerce 13.  Look at

         18   that.  And this is Bates No. 4257 and 4256.

         19                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         20                tendered to the witness.)

         21   BY THE WITNESS:

         22        A.    I reviewed the document.

         23        MR. BLUM:  Let's stop for a second.  Off the

         24   record.

         25                (WHEREUPON, discussion was had
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          1                off the record.)

          2        MR. BLUM:  Back on the record.

          3   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          4        Q.    Do you know this document?  Have you

          5   seen it before?

          6        A.    Yes, I have.

          7        Q.    What is it?

          8        A.    It's a list of references on

          9   NorVergence.

         10        Q.    And when was ‑‑ well, did Equity

         11   Partners receive this?

         12        A.    Yes, we did.

         13        Q.    From NorVergence?

         14        A.    Yes.

         15        Q.    When?

         16        A.    When we were doing our vendor

         17   qualification process.

         18        Q.    Is that about the time of the date on

         19   the bottom of this document?

         20        A.    No.

         21        Q.    What does the date on the bottom of the

         22   document reflect?

         23        A.    I do not know.

         24        Q.    When was the vendor qualification

         25   again?
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          1        A.    In May 2003, approximately.

          2        Q.    Do you know if these references are

          3   checked by Partners Equity?

          4        A.    We received the list.  We did not, to

          5   my knowledge, check any of the references.

          6        Q.    Why?

          7        A.    Because we had received their financial

          8   statements, we had received their bank statements.

          9   And in our knowledge, other reputable companies,

         10   extremely big companies such as GE, CIT and DLL,

         11   DeLageLanden, were doing business with NorVergence

         12   already and also reviewing the Dunn & Bradstreet

         13   report.

         14        Q.    Did you check with GE, DLL or any of

         15   the other businesses that NorVergence was

         16   conducting business with?

         17        A.    I did not.

         18        Q.    Do you know if Partners Equity did?

         19        A.    I do not believe we did.

         20        Q.    Is that something that Partners Equity

         21   would generally do?

         22        A.    In some cases, we might, yes.

         23        Q.    So when might Partners Equity check on

         24   businesses and the business relationship with the

         25   vendors?
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          1        A.    That if we would be aware of any kind

          2   of issues with regard to that vendor or if

          3   anything would turn up with regards to our

          4   financial analysis, Dunn & Bradstreet review and

          5   credit review.

          6        Q.    Well, how would other questions arise

          7   other than what you got on the financial

          8   statements from the vendor?

          9        A.    Might be issues pointed out in the

         10   footnotes of the statements, so forth, might be

         11   information supplied by Dunn & Bradstreet.

         12        Q.    Is that the only place where any other

         13   questions would arise?

         14        A.    To my knowledge.

         15        Q.    Let me show you what's been marked

         16   composite Exhibit Commerce 14, Bates 4254 and

         17   4255.

         18                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         19                tendered to the witness.)

         20   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         21        Q.    Are you familiar with the document?

         22        A.    Yes, I am.

         23        Q.    What is it?

         24        A.    It's an e‑mail from Bill McCormick to

         25   me.  And it references an e‑mail from Wizeman
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          1   explaining the stock ownership.  And we sent him

          2   the credit app for Peter Salzano to authorize us

          3   to pull his credit information.

          4        Q.    And Peter Salzano is who?

          5        A.    President of NorVergence.

          6        Q.    Now, if you look at the bottom of the

          7   first page, 4254, at the bottom, it talks about:

          8              "Again, this is for the purposes of

          9       approving NorVergence as a vendor partner and

         10       is not needed for the direct lease for

         11       Teleconferencing equipment."

         12              Do you see that?

         13        A.    Yes, I do.

         14        Q.    Is that in reference to the

         15   teleconferencing equipment that you spoke about

         16   earlier that was a $177,000 lease?

         17        A.    Yes, it is.

         18        Q.    Now the next line in that says:

         19              "That transaction has been approved

         20       without a personal guarantee."

         21              Do you see that?

         22        A.    Yes.

         23        Q.    Is that unusual in terms of Partners

         24   Equity, you know, business transactions with

         25   vendors?
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          1        A.    Can you repeat that question?

          2        Q.    Is this an unusual thing not to require

          3   a personal guarantee?

          4        A.    It is not an unusual thing to not

          5   request a personal guarantee.

          6        Q.    And why is that?

          7        A.    The financial information of the

          8   company itself and its financial statements and

          9   its Dunn & Bradstreet report makes it possible to

         10   do it without a guarantee.

         11        Q.    And was the teleconferencing equipment

         12   lease between the company NorVergence and Partners

         13   Equity?

         14        A.    Yes.

         15        Q.    Why were you ‑‑ strike that.

         16   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         17        Q.    Let me show you what's been marked

         18   Exhibit 15, Bates 4247.

         19                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         20                tendered to the witness.)

         21   BY THE WITNESS:

         22        A.    I reviewed the document.

         23   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         24        Q.    And what is the document?

         25        A.    The document is an e‑mail from
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          1   Bill McCormick to me, Marty Babicki.

          2        Q.    Okay.  And why was this e‑mail sent

          3   from Mr. McCormick to you?

          4        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.  You can

          5   answer.

          6   BY THE WITNESS:

          7        A.    Can you repeat the question?

          8   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          9        Q.    Why was this e‑mail sent from

         10   Mr. McCormick to you?

         11        MR. BLUM:  Same objection.

         12   BY THE WITNESS:

         13        A.    We were in discussions regarding the

         14   program agreement.

         15   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         16        Q.    With NorVergence?

         17        A.    Yes.

         18        Q.    And the subject says, "NorVergence

         19   revised proposal."  Do you see that in the

         20   subject?

         21        A.    Yes.

         22        Q.    Do you know what that's referring to?

         23        A.    No, I do not.

         24        Q.    Were there revisions of the NorVergence

         25   proposal; do you know?
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          1        A.    I do not know.

          2        Q.    The point being here is the program

          3   agreement is the final document in establishing a

          4   relationship with the vendor.

          5   the first sentence says:

          6              "I made the revisions as per our

          7       meeting."

          8              Do you know what that reference is to?

          9        A.    Could be the meeting that Bill and I

         10   had just discussing the situation.

         11        Q.    Do you remember such a meeting?

         12        A.    No.

         13        Q.    Who is Steve?

         14        A.    Steve Grosso.  Steve is referring to

         15   Steve Grosso, our president.

         16        Q.    All right.  Now, the next sentence

         17   says:

         18              "He was OK with not charging them FMV

         19             on the repurchase calculation when we

         20             are not taking a residual position."

         21                 What does that mean?

         22        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.  You can

         23   answer.

         24   BY THE WITNESS:

         25        A.    I can't remember if this was on the
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          1   individual transaction or on the program

          2   agreement.  Can I expand?

          3   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          4        Q.    Yes, sir.  Go ahead.

          5        A.    In a program agreement, we outlined the

          6   different products that can be used whether they

          7   be fair market value or lease purchase.  In the

          8   transaction we did on the telecommunications

          9   equipment, that was a lease purchase transaction.

         10              We may at one time considered doing a

         11   fair market value transaction and decided not to.

         12              The six percent discount language would

         13   talk to in a contract if there was a breach for

         14   default and how you arrive at the payoff figures

         15   and penalties.

         16        Q.    Now, the teleconferencing equipment was

         17   what kind of lease again?

         18        A.    Lease purchase.

         19        Q.    Let me show you Exhibit Composite

         20   Commerce 16.  And this is marked NORV/FTC/PBN

         21   OO02734 through 2741.

         22                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         23                tendered to the witness.)

         24   BY THE WITNESS:

         25        A.    I reviewed the document.
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          1   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          2        Q.    All right.  And what is this document?

          3        A.    The document is referred to as a

          4   NorVergence Program Agreement.

          5        Q.    And was this executed by both parties?

          6        A.    Yes, it was.

          7        Q.    Now, in terms of the execution on page

          8   8 of the document, which is actually Bates 2741,

          9   who signed on behalf of Commerce Commercial?

         10        A.    I did.

         11        Q.    And you're actually ‑‑ you're an

         12   employee of Partners Equity?

         13        A.    Yes, I am.

         14        Q.    But you've been permitted to use ‑‑

         15   Partners Equity has been permitted to use Commerce

         16   Commercial Leasing; correct?

         17        A.    Yes.

         18        Q.    Does the Commerce Bank in any way have

         19   an interest in this agreement?

         20        A.    No.

         21        Q.    Do you know whether this NorVergence

         22   program agreement was the only NorVergence program

         23   agreement signed by Commerce Commercial and

         24   NorVergence?

         25        A.    To my knowledge, this is the only
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          1   agreement signed by both parties.

          2        Q.    Were there any amendments to this

          3   agreement, do you know?

          4        A.    There was one amendment.

          5        Q.    What was the amendment?

          6        A.    Amendment 1 referred to just assignment

          7   of lease language and power of attorney language.

          8        Q.    How did Amendment 1 change the

          9   assignment of lease language?

         10        A.    Just clarifying that NorVergence leases

         11   were assigned to Partners Equity.

         12        Q.    Were assigned?

         13        A.    Yes.

         14        Q.    And what was the prior language prior

         15   to the amendment about assignments of leases?

         16        A.    There was no reference to assignment

         17   language in the original program agreement.

         18   That's why we made the decision to amend it and

         19   make it clear for both parties.

         20        Q.    And what was the purpose of amendment 1

         21   dealing with the assignment of leases?

         22        MR. BLUM:  Objection.  He answered it.

         23   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         24        Q.    Well, why did they do that?  Why did

         25   they add Amendment 1 ‑‑
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          1        MR. BLUM:  I'll object ‑‑

          2   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          3        Q.    ‑‑ as it relates to assignment of

          4   leases?

          5        MR. BLUM:  I'll object again.  When you use

          6   the word "they," who are you talking about?

          7   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          8        Q.    Why was there an amendment by Partners

          9   Equity and NorVergence to Composite Exhibit

         10   Commerce 16 in relation to assignment of lease?

         11        A.    We wanted to make sure that the parties

         12   knew that the contracts would be assigned to

         13   Partners Equity from NorVergence.

         14        Q.    Before they were not assigned?

         15        A.    The program agreement was done May 16th

         16   and the amendment to the program agreement was

         17   done right after that.

         18        Q.    Do you remember what the date of the

         19   amendment was?

         20        A.    Approximately, it was done in

         21   June 2003.

         22        Q.    There were no assignments on leases

         23   prior to the amendment?

         24        A.    We did not do our first transaction

         25   until July 2003.
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          1        Q.    Now, I forgot what you said.  There

          2   were two things that Amendment 1 did.  One was

          3   related to the assignment of leases.  What was the

          4   other?

          5        A.    The other was power of attorney.

          6        Q.    What was that about?

          7        A.    Cover such things as following UCC's.

          8        Q.    This gave the power of attorney to

          9   Partners Equity?

         10        A.    Yes.

         11        Q.    All right.  Now, in Section 2 of this

         12   program agreement, it defines customers.  Do you

         13   see that?

         14        A.    Yes, I do.

         15        Q.    Do you know why that definition is

         16   contained in this agreement?

         17        A.    Yes, I do.

         18        Q.    Why?

         19        A.    To emphasize that we were doing

         20   commercial business and not consumer business.

         21        Q.    It sounds to me, though ‑‑ strike that.

         22              The way a customer is defined here is

         23   primarily for personal family or household

         24   purposes.  Is that supposed to convey that these

         25   are commercial leases?
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          1        MR. BLUM:  Number one, I disagree with your

          2   interpretation, but ‑‑

          3   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          4        Q.    Well, go ahead and answer if you can.

          5        A.    This is a point of reference that it is

          6   only commercial transactions.  Commercial leases

          7   we would do, and they're not consumer leases.

          8        Q.    Again ‑‑

          9        MR. BLUM:  One second, please.

         10        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Yes.

         11        MR. BLUM:  Okay.  Go ahead.

         12   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         13        Q.    And Section 4.2 they're talking about

         14   funding.  And they're talking about 100 percent of

         15   the full purchase price of the equipment plus

         16   20 percent allowable soft costs.  What does that

         17   mean?

         18        MR. BLUM:  What does what mean?

         19   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         20        Q.    That whole reference.

         21        A.    That is a standard language that we

         22   will have in our program agreement.  There are

         23   programs which will involve soft cost; soft cost

         24   defined as installation cost, transportation cost,

         25   training cost, other items in that category.  So
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          1   that we will only advance 20 percent of the total

          2   equipment cost in that transaction.

          3              On the NorVergence transactions, there

          4   was never any of that, and the equipment cost was

          5   just a hundred percent on the price of the system.

          6   There were no soft costs, because we require that

          7   the soft costs be identified for us in funding of

          8   a transaction.

          9        MR. BLUM:  Can you take a moment and read his

         10   answer back?

         11                (WHEREUPON, the record was

         12                read by the reporter.)

         13        MR. BLUM:  Was that answer correct?

         14   BY THE WITNESS:

         15        A.    I believe I want a clarification and

         16   use an example.

         17        MR. BLUM:  Sure.

         18   BY THE WITNESS:

         19        A.    Where this would come into play would

         20   be if a company was purchasing a computer system

         21   and the actual cost of the computer system would

         22   be $100,000, there could be installation cost and

         23   training costs of the employees in how to use that

         24   equipment.  So if that cost totaled $15,000, okay,

         25   that would fall within the parameter, because that
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          1   was 15 percent of a hundred thousand dollars.  So

          2   therefore, then, the financing price would be

          3   115,000, which would be paid to the vendor.

          4   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          5        Q.    And so this was ‑‑ this situation of

          6   soft cost was not included in the NorVergence?

          7        A.    There were no soft costs in our

          8   equipment cost to NorVergence.

          9        Q.    Do you know who NorVergence purchased

         10   their Matrix equipment from?

         11        A.    No, I do not.

         12        Q.    Was it more than one entity, do you

         13   know?

         14        A.    I do not know.

         15        Q.    I'm going to show you what's been

         16   marked as Composite Exhibit Commerce 17.

         17                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         18                tendered to the witness.)

         19   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         20        Q.    While you're looking at that, my

         21   question would be coming up, just so you know,

         22   whether or not that's a duplicate of Exhibit

         23   Commerce 7 that we've already gone through?

         24        A.    I believe it is.

         25        Q.    Just take a look at that real quick.
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          1   And by the way, Commerce 17 is NORV/FTC/PBN 27422

          2   through 2745.

          3        A.    I reviewed the document.  I would state

          4   it is not a duplicate because there are different

          5   dates on the bottom right‑hand corners and one is

          6   a signed document and the other is not a signed

          7   document.

          8        Q.    Can you determine whether or not the

          9   provisions of the agreement in both ‑‑ well,

         10   strike that.

         11              Let me ask you, in Commerce Exhibit 17,

         12   other than what you just told me, are there any

         13   other provisions of the program proposal that are

         14   different?

         15        MR. BLUM:  I'm not going to let him answer

         16   that unless he takes the time to read it word for

         17   word.  If you want to take the time.

         18   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         19        Q.    Without looking at it, are you aware of

         20   that on your personal knowledge any difference

         21   between these?

         22        A.    I'd have to look at them.

         23        Q.    That's fine.  Let me show you what's

         24   been marked Exhibit Commerce 18.  And this is

         25   NORV/FTC/PBN 2756.
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          1                (WHEREUPON, the document was

          2                tendered to the witness.)

          3   BY THE WITNESS:

          4        A.    I have reviewed the document.

          5   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          6        Q.    Do you know who created this document?

          7        A.    No, I do not.

          8        Q.    Have you seen this document before?

          9        A.    No.

         10        Q.    Do you know what is being referenced in

         11   this document in terms of May results?

         12        A.    Yes.

         13        Q.    What is that?

         14        A.    This appears to be results for May and

         15   June on applications received, approved and

         16   declined for the month of May, and for June, the

         17   fundings and the applications received,

         18   applications approved, applications declined,

         19   applications canceled, applications pending and

         20   the average credit decision that would be

         21   turnaround time.

         22        Q.    Is this something that Partners Equity

         23   would do for any lease vendor?

         24        A.    Yes, it is.

         25        Q.    We also have marked here Commerce
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          1   Exhibit 19, which is merely a cover sheet.  I

          2   don't have any questions on that.  It's

          3   NORV/FTC/PBN 2749.

          4              I'm going to show you what's been

          5   marked as composite Commerce Exhibit 20, which is

          6   NORV/FTC/PBN 2750 and 2751.

          7                (WHEREUPON, the document was

          8                tendered to the witness.)

          9   BY THE WITNESS:

         10        A.    I've reviewed the document.

         11   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         12        Q.    Previously, you spoke about an

         13   Amendment 1 to the NorVergence program agreement.

         14   Is this the amendment that you were referencing?

         15        A.    Yes.

         16        Q.    Were there proposals of Amendment 1

         17   prior to execution, do you know?

         18        A.    I do not know.

         19        Q.    I'll show you what's been marked

         20   Exhibit Commerce 21.

         21                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         22                tendered to the witness.)

         23   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         24        Q.    And that's NORV/FTC/PBN 2476.

         25        A.    I reviewed the document.
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          1        Q.    And what is this document?

          2        A.    This document is a certificate of

          3   incumbency authority that would be given to us by

          4   a company stipulating that whoever signs the

          5   agreements or contracts with us is authorized to

          6   enter that business, and that company would do

          7   business with us, has the authority to do so.

          8        Q.    And was this a form that was used and

          9   executed by NorVergence; do you know?

         10        A.    Yes, it was.

         11        Q.    I show you a composite Commerce 22,

         12   which is a duplicate of Commerce 20.  And so I'm

         13   not going to ask you any questions about that one.

         14                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         15                tendered to the witness.)

         16        MR. BLUM:  I don't believe that's accurate.

         17        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Thank you.

         18   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         19        Q.    Exhibit Commerce 23, I'll show you that

         20   one.  Take a look at that.

         21        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Let's go off the record a

         22   second.

         23                (WHEREUPON, discussion was had

         24                off the record.)

         25                (WHEREUPON, a recess was had.)
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          1        MR. BLUM:  There's one thing I would ask the

          2   witness to clarify in reference to Exhibit 16.

          3   BY THE WITNESS:

          4        A.    In our program agreement here, it

          5   states soft costs may include sales tax.  We do

          6   not include sales tax as a soft cost.  Sales tax

          7   is collected in addition to the monthly rental

          8   payment, and it can vary per the roles of each

          9   individual state.

         10   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         11        Q.    Okay.

         12        MR. CULPEPPER:  So that still means there

         13   were no soft costs?

         14   BY THE WITNESS:

         15        A.    No soft costs.

         16   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         17        Q.    All right.  Did you have an opportunity

         18   to review Exhibit 23, which is the NorVergence

         19   Credit Discussion Points?

         20        A.    (No response.)

         21                (WHEREUPON, there was a conference

         22                between the witness and counsel.)

         23        MR. BLUM:  I'm sorry.  Yes, I apologize.  I

         24   may have misspoke before.  With the last two

         25   exhibits we dealt with before this, I thought I
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          1   said you, but apparently I was wrong.  They are

          2   not duplicates, okay.  But everyone is telling me

          3   I said they are duplicates.  I meant to say

          4   they're not.  I think it's 20 and 22.  If you look

          5   at them very carefully, they are not duplicates.

          6        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Do you want me to ask him

          7   about the differences or ‑‑

          8        MR. BLUM:  No.  The handwriting is different.

          9   If you look at the handwriting.

         10        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  So we essentially have

         11   different notes?

         12        MR. BLUM:  Yes.

         13        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Thank you.

         14        MR. BLUM:  Did you hear me say it was not a

         15   duplicate or it was?  Which did I say?

         16        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Was, what I heard.

         17   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         18        Q.    Have you had a chance to review Exhibit

         19   23?

         20        A.    Yes, I have.

         21        Q.    What is that?

         22        A.    It appears to me this is an internal

         23   PECC memo just outlining discussion points for ‑‑

         24   regarding NorVergence.

         25        Q.    Do you know who created that?
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          1        A.    I'm not sure.

          2        Q.    Let me show you what's been marked

          3   Commerce Exhibit 24, which is Bates NORV/FTC/PBN

          4   2757?

          5                (WHEREUPON, the document was

          6                tendered to the witness.)

          7   BY THE WITNESS:

          8        A.    I've reviewed the document.

          9   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         10        Q.    Okay.  Do you know who created this

         11   document?

         12        A.    No, I do not.

         13        Q.    Have you seen this document before

         14   today?

         15        A.    No, I have not.

         16        Q.    Do you know what meeting is being

         17   referred to in this document, a meeting of July 3,

         18   2003?

         19        A.    No, I do not.

         20        Q.    Do you know what ‑‑ strike that.

         21              Let me show you what's been marked

         22   Exhibit Commerce 25.

         23                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         24                tendered to the witness.)

         25   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:
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          1        Q.    Have you seen this document before?

          2        A.    I have not seen this document before.

          3        Q.    Are you familiar with the reference in

          4   this e‑mail from Mr. McCormick to Bob Wizeman that

          5   references IVCI lease?

          6        A.    Yes, I'm familiar with it.

          7        Q.    What is that?

          8        A.    IVCI is the vendor on the

          9   teleconferencing equipment in the transaction we

         10   did directly with NorVergence.

         11        Q.    Let me show you Exhibit Composite

         12   Commerce 26, Bates No. NORV/FTC/PBN 2753 through

         13   2754.

         14                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         15                tendered to the witness.)

         16   BY THE WITNESS:

         17        A.    I have reviewed this document.

         18   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         19        Q.    Have you seen this document before

         20   today?

         21        A.    I have seen this document in other

         22   arrangements with other partners ‑‑ vendors that

         23   we have.

         24        Q.    Is this a standard form for Partners

         25   Equity?
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          1        A.    It is not a standard form.

          2        Q.    When is this form used?

          3        A.    This form is used when Partners Equity

          4   entered into a servicing arrangement with a

          5   financial institution that were taking over the

          6   servicing with their leasing portfolio.

          7        Q.    Do you know if this document was used

          8   with respect to NorVergence?

          9        A.    This ‑‑ to my knowledge, this document

         10   was not used with NorVergence.

         11        Q.    Was this document used with respect to

         12   Commerce Bank or Commerce Commercial Leasing at

         13   all?

         14        A.    No.

         15        Q.    I show you what's been marked Exhibit

         16   Commerce 27, NORV/FTC/PBN 2732.

         17                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         18                tendered to the witness.)

         19   BY THE WITNESS:

         20        A.    I've reviewed the document.

         21   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         22        Q.    Have you seen this document before

         23   today?

         24        A.    No, I have not.

         25        Q.    Do you know why this document was
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          1   created?

          2        A.    No, I do not.

          3        Q.    Exhibit Commerce 28, NORV/FTC/PBN 2758.

          4                (WHEREUPON, the document was

          5                tendered to the witness.)

          6   BY THE WITNESS:

          7        A.    I've reviewed the document.

          8   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          9        Q.    Have you seen this document before?

         10        A.    No, I have not.

         11        Q.    Do you know why this document was

         12   created?

         13        A.    No, I do not.

         14        Q.    Do you know or have any information

         15   about the NorVergence/Commerce vendor lease

         16   meeting of November 18, 2003?

         17        MR. BLUM:  Object to the form of the

         18   question.  Go ahead.  You can answer.

         19   BY THE WITNESS:

         20        A.    Can you repeat the question?

         21        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Are you ‑‑ what are you

         22   objecting to?

         23        MR. BLUM:  Well, the question is, did it.

         24   There's no predicate the meeting ever took place.

         25   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:
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          1        Q.    Do you know whether or not a meeting

          2   occurred in reference to this Exhibit Commerce 28?

          3        A.    I do not.

          4        Q.    I show you Exhibit Commerce 29,

          5   NORV/FTC/PBN 2733.

          6        A.    I reviewed the document.

          7        Q.    Have you seen that document before

          8   today?

          9        A.    No, I have not.

         10        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Let's go off the record a

         11   second.

         12                (WHEREUPON, discussion was had

         13                off the record.)

         14        MR. BLUM:  The following exhibits Mr. Babicki

         15   has reviewed them and has no knowledge of these

         16   documents:  Commerce 30, Commerce 31, Commerce 32,

         17   Commerce 34, Commerce 36, Commerce 37, Commerce

         18   38, Commerce 39, Commerce 40, Commerce 42,

         19   Commerce 45.

         20              The ones that he does know are 33, 35,

         21   41, 43, and 44.

         22              Just for the record, as far as I'm

         23   concerned, Exhibit 43 is the attorney‑client memo

         24   that we've inadvertently produced and we'll assert

         25   the privilege.
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          1              And can I just ask you, these loan

          2   numbers, NorVergence ‑‑ NORV/FTC/PBN, whose

          3   numbers are they?

          4        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  I can't tell because I

          5   just don't know.  I know I understood that it was

          6   part of the production that we'd gotten from

          7   Commerce, but I don't know if that's true or not.

          8        MR. BLUM:  Okay.

          9   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         10        Q.    If you would then, just give me the

         11   exhibits you have knowledge on.

         12                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         13                tendered to the witness.)

         14        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Thank you.  All the

         15   exhibits that have been referenced are going to be

         16   part of the record of this deposition.

         17   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         18        Q.    Before I get to that, let's go back to

         19   the 43.  All right.  Don't ‑‑ just hang on to that

         20   now.  Let me understand what this document is

         21   here.

         22        MR. KATSAFANAS:  Which one is 43?

         23        MR. BLUM:  It is 04323 through and including

         24   04327.  It's entitled "NorVergence Funding Source

         25   Meeting Summary.
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          1        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  All right.  And this ‑‑

          2   what's the time period on that document?

          3        MR. BLUM:  June 23rd, '04.

          4        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  And the subject matter of

          5   that surrounds the leasing committee group;

          6   correct?

          7        MR. BLUM:  It is about ‑‑ it is notes that

          8   someone prepared to give to Mr. Deeb in reference

          9   to the June 23rd meeting.

         10        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Do we know if that's part

         11   of the ‑‑

         12        MR. BLUM:  Excuse me one second.

         13        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Sure.

         14                (WHEREUPON, there was a short

         15                interruption.)

         16        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Can you tell me, though,

         17   whether this is related to the lease committee

         18   meetings?

         19        MR. BLUM:  It's related to the meeting that

         20   occurred before the leasing committee was put

         21   together.

         22        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Okay.

         23   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         24        Q.    Let's go back, then.  I know you

         25   reviewed all these.  Let me show you Commerce
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          1   Exhibit 35.  And did you create that document?

          2                (WHEREUPON, the document was

          3                tendered to the witness.)

          4   BY THE WITNESS:

          5        A.    No, I did not.

          6   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          7        Q.    Have you seen this document before

          8   today?

          9        A.    Yes.

         10        MR. BLUM:  Will you identify which one?

         11        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  4396.

         12   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         13        Q.    Have you seen this document before here

         14   today?

         15        A.    No, I have not.

         16        Q.    How do you have knowledge about this

         17   document?

         18        A.    It may have been referenced to me, or

         19   in some cases, we would send a notice up to

         20   NorVergence, Pete Buschemi here being at

         21   NorVergence, with just some comments about the

         22   respective lease and make him aware of it.

         23   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         24        Q.    Did you ever have any personal contact

         25   with Builders Automation Machinery Company?

                                                                      173

          1        A.    Not that I remember.

          2        Q.    Let me show you what's been marked as

          3   Commerce 33, Composite 33, which would be

          4   NORV/FTC/PBN 2725 through 2731.

          5                (WHEREUPON, the document was

          6                tendered to the witness.)

          7   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          8        Q.    And what is this document?

          9        A.    This is a document from Ed Lucas to

         10   Bill McCormick, Bob Wizeman and Robert Fine.  I

         11   was copied in on the document.  It references

         12   "Remaining NorVergence Back Log."

         13              In the beginning of January, we

         14   informed NorVergence that we're going to stop

         15   taking new applications, but we wanted to get a

         16   record of what was still out there and knowing

         17   what could be potentially funded on the program.

         18        Q.    You're talking about January 2004?

         19        A.    Yes.

         20        Q.    What do they mean by backlog in this

         21   document?

         22        MR. BLUM:  Objection to form.  You can

         23   answer.

         24   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         25        Q.    If you know.
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          1        A.    I can answer the question.  Backlog in

          2   this case would be transactions that we have

          3   approved that could turn into potential lease

          4   force and potentially be funded pending delivery

          5   and acceptance of the equipment by the customer.

          6        Q.    Okay.  I show you what's been marked

          7   Commerce Exhibit 41, which is 4401 Bates numbers.

          8                (WHEREUPON, the document was

          9                tendered to the witness.)

         10   BY THE WITNESS:

         11        A.    I have reviewed the document.

         12   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         13        Q.    Okay.  Have you seen this document

         14   before today?

         15        A.    Not this particular document.  I have

         16   seen the form, which is our standard invoice.

         17        Q.    Standard invoice for Partners Equity?

         18        A.    Yes.

         19        Q.    For what?

         20        A.    Collecting of the payments on each

         21   lease transaction.

         22              And if I may reference, this is under

         23   our old system, our Turbo Lease System invoice

         24   format.  The style of the invoice has changed

         25   since then.
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          1        Q.    Is there more information reflected on

          2   the new lease format?

          3        A.    Yes.  Let me clarify that.  Other than

          4   to another reference number, we give telephone

          5   number with regard to insurance if there are

          6   questions regarding insurance.

          7        Q.    Thanks.  I show you what's been marked

          8   Exhibit Commerce 44.  And I know you've reviewed

          9   that.  And have you seen that document before

         10   today?

         11                (WHEREUPON, the document was

         12                tendered to the witness.)

         13   BY THE WITNESS:

         14        A.    Yes, I have.

         15   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         16        Q.    And what is that?

         17        A.    This is a document that ‑‑

         18        MR. KATSAFANAS:  What number is that?

         19        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  I'm sorry.  It's 4408

         20   Bates number.

         21   BY THE WITNESS:

         22        A.    This is a document which provides a

         23   synopsis of this account regarding Global Stone

         24   Company in Pinellas, Florida.  It's a recap of the

         25   status of the account.  Global Stone filed a
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          1   complaint against Commerce Commercial Leasing.

          2   And our counsel in that firm is Lamb, Rubinstone,

          3   Tuttero & David (phonetic).

          4   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

          5        Q.    When you say complaint, they filed a

          6   pleading in court; is that correct?

          7        A.    They have filed ‑‑ to my understanding,

          8   they filed a complaint in the county in which

          9   Pinellas is located.

         10        Q.    All right.  Do you know why or what ‑‑

         11   strike that.

         12              Do you know if there is any advantage

         13   for Commerce Bank to allow Partners Equity to use

         14   this name Commerce Leasing?

         15        A.    There is no advantage of additional

         16   names to Commerce Bank other than making it for a

         17   seamless transaction.

         18        Q.    Does Commerce Bank get any compensation

         19   directly or indirectly from allowing Partners

         20   Equity to use Commerce Commercial Leasing's name?

         21        A.    In respect to the NorVergence program

         22   or overall?

         23        Q.    Overall.

         24        A.    Overall if we ‑‑ and this would be with

         25   any financial institution that we have an
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          1   arrangement with, we will pay them a referral fee

          2   per transaction.

          3        Q.    When you say "we will," are you talking

          4   about ‑‑

          5        A.    Partners Equity will pay them.

          6        Q.    Okay.  So you would pay a referring fee

          7   from time to time to Commerce Bank?

          8        A.    The calculation is ‑‑ that is generally

          9   used is it's a percentage of the equipment cost,

         10   the cost being defined as what we pay acquisition

         11   costs of the equipment to the bank for a referral

         12   fee.

         13        Q.    And is that a standard percentage or

         14   does it vary?

         15        A.    It can vary by program.

         16        Q.    What is the percentage as it relates to

         17   NorVergence?

         18        A.    I do not remember.

         19        Q.    Do you know the highest percentage of

         20   referral pay paid to Commerce Bank by any partner?

         21        A.    Repeat the question, please.

         22        Q.    I'm trying to find out what the highest

         23   percentage of referral fee paid to Commerce Bank

         24   is, if you know, by any business.

         25        A.    Approximately one to two percent.
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          1        Q.    Do you know whether or not the referral

          2   fee for NorVergence leases is more than

          3   two percent to Commerce Bank?

          4        A.    I do not remember.

          5        Q.    Who would know that?

          6        A.    I would have to refer back to our

          7   operating agreement to give you that answer.

          8        Q.    Who is the Commerce Bank contact for

          9   the NorVergence leases and issues relating to

         10   NorVergence leases?

         11        MR. BLUM:  Object to the form of the

         12   question.

         13   BY THE WITNESS:

         14        A.    Can you repeat the question?

         15   BY MR. VANDEN DOOREN:

         16        Q.    Sure.  If you know, is there a contact,

         17   a primary contact at Commerce Bank for the

         18   NorVergence lease transactions?

         19        A.    I do not know.

         20        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  I don't have any other

         21   questions, I don't think.  Thank you.

         22        MR. TELLECHEA:  No questions.

         23        MR. BLUM:  No questions.

         24        MR. CULPEPPER:  No questions.

         25        MR. VANDEN DOOREN:  Thank you, sir.
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          1      IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL

          2        CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

          3   STATE OF FLORIDA,            )

          4            Plaintiff,          )Case No.

          5      vs.                       )2004 CA 002515

          6   COMMERCE COMMERCIAL LEASING, )

          7   et al.,                      )

          8            Defendants.         )

          9            I hereby certify that I have read the

         10   foregoing transcript of my deposition given at the

         11   time and place aforesaid, consisting of Pages 1 to

         12   179, inclusive, and I do again subscribe and make

         13   oath that the same is a true, correct and complete

         14   transcript of my deposition so given as aforesaid,

         15   and includes changes, if any, so made by me.

         16   

         17                           MARTIN F. BABICKI

         18   

         19   

         20   SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO

         21   before me this        day

         22   of                 , A.D. 20  .

         23   

         24          Notary Public

         25   
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          1   STATE OF ILLINOIS  )

          2                      )  SS:

          3   COUNTY OF L A K E  )

          4            I, ZONA B. MILLER, a Notary Public within

          5   and for the County of Lake, State of Illinois, and

          6   a Certified Shorthand Reporter of said state, do

          7   hereby certify:

          8              That previous to the commencement of

          9   the examination of the witness, the witness was

         10   duly sworn to testify the whole truth concerning

         11   the matters herein;

         12              That the foregoing deposition

         13   transcript was reported stenographically by me,

         14   was thereafter reduced to typewriting under my

         15   personal direction and constitutes a true record

         16   of the testimony given and the proceedings had;

         17              That the said deposition was taken

         18   before me at the time and place specified;

         19              That I am not a relative or employee or

         20   attorney or counsel, nor a relative or employee of

         21   such attorney or counsel for any of the parties

         22   hereto, nor interested directly or indirectly in

         23   the outcome of this action.

         24              IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I do hereunto set

         25   my hand and affix my seal of office at Chicago,
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          1   Illinois, this 13th day of January, 2005.

          2   

          3                Notary Public, Lake County,

          4                Illinois.

          5                My commission expires May 1, 2006.
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          8   C.S.R. Certificate No. 84‑0428.
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